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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this annual report, make no representation as to
its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this annual report.

This report, for which the directors (collectively the “Directors” and each the
‘Director’) of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’, and together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, ‘we’, “
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange (the "GEM

Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Group.

our” or “us”) collectively and individually

The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge and belief (i) the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (i)
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Financial Highlights

For the year
Highlights of consolidated statements of comprehensive income

B 15 ¥ &

Revenue WA

Gross profit EF

Profit before taxation B 758 A1 g )
Profit for the year FRm A

Total comprehensive income FRREABRA

for the year

FR
REZHBARRBER
FY2019 FY2018
—ZE—Hh
MBFE B FE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT T
67,509 46,267
31,467 21,708
10,557 12467
6,963 9,735
6,272 8,080

Non-HKFRS measures

FERMBHRELEATE

FY2019 FY2018

—E-N —ZE-N

BB EE MHFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Profit for the year FREF 6,963 9,735
Add: Non-recurring items - IEREIEE

— Listing expenses — FWHEX 13,092 4681

Adjusted profit for the year (Note) F R FREEF (MEE) 20,055 14416

Note:  Adjusted profit for the year/period refers to profit/(loss) for the year/period excluding non-
recurring listing expenses. This non-HKFRS financial data is a supplemental financial measure
that is not required by, or presented in accordance with, the HKFRS and is therefore referred
to as a "non-HKFRS” financial measure. It is not a measurement of our financial performance
under the HKFRS and should not be considered as an alternative measure to profit from
operations or any other performance measures derived in accordance with the HKFRS, or as an
alternative measure to cash flows from operating activities or as a measure of our liquidity.

Bt

F/ HNEREEFIENREIFER LTRZF/
HREF/ (B18) o I IFREPBREERNBIERHE
FEBIEE  BAFME LT R ERILEZS
F LR [SFR B MM ER] | MBI TIER o MIFR
PREEHBREERN TP B RAER - TERS
BEGENS —ERAREE SN HREENITEN
EMEMRBRER L EDRERENS —EF
ERBE IR -
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Financial Highlights
B 75 1 2

At year end FER
Highlights of consolidated statements of financial positions OB ERBEBEE
FY2019 FY2018
—ZE—Hh —ZF—N
BREE B S
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET TETT
Non-current assets FERBEE 9,799 9,357
Current assets BB E 91,247 40,166
Current liabilities mEBE (6,310) (7,333)
Net current assets MEBEFR 84,937 32,833
Net assets BEFR 92,398 39,615
Revenue KA

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-RALEE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\EF
HK$’ 000 HKS$'000
TET FAT
Slewing rings e TR
ODM ODM 42,818 63.4 31,114 67.3
OEM OEM 951 1.4 1,272 27
OBM OBM 5,569 8.3 1,304 2.8
Others rings Hfh 3 10,612 15.7 7,620 16.5
59,950 88.8 41,310 89.3
Other machinery and parts H i & 4 7,559 11.2 4,957 10.7
67,509 100.0 46,267 100.0

Note:  Others rings mainly include revenue derived from the sales of slewing rings that we do not B Hfh A EERERE HERMB R EEENDE
currently produce. S e
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Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries, (the “Group”), is a premium manufacturer of slewing rings and
also an “one-stop service” provider as we are able to source other slewing
rings, machineries and other mechanical parts and components of
machineries for customers. We manufacture slewing rings that conform to
applicable Japanese Industrial Standards (JIS), which has higher quality control
requirements than that produced in many other countries in the world. Our
principal subsidiaries include Best Linking Limited (“Best Linking"), Wing
Fung Machinery Company Limited ("Wing Fung") and Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited
("Kyoei Seiki").

Our Group's business commenced in 2007 when Mr. Chan Yuk Pan, the
executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and the
Controlling Shareholder of our Group, utilised the internal resources of Wing
Fung, the investment holding company of Kyoei Seiki, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong in November 2005, to establish Kyoei Seiki in
September 2007. Since 2012, Best Linking commenced distribution of slewing
rings manufactured by Kyoei Seiki and sourcing of other products for our
customers.

As our business continued to grow, we have expanded our customer base
significantly. In 2010 and 2012, impressed by our products, a listed company
on the Singapore Exchange, which was principally engaged in the trading of
heavy machinery and diesel engine parts, and a leading machinery and parts
supply company in Japan became our customer and entered into business
relationship with us ever since. From 2011 to 2015, three Japanese equipment
manufacturers also became our regular original equipment manufacturing
("OEM") basis customers.

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability on 26 October 2018. On 15 November 2019 (the “Listing
Date’), the shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way of the offering of 100,000,000
new shares (the “Share Offer’) (the “Listing").

About Us
78 7 T 1M
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries, | am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 15
November 2019. That was an important milestone in the development of the
Group, which benefited the Group to strengthen its corporate values,
becoming better known publicly, and gaining access to the capital markets.
With strong support from various stakeholders, especially our long-standing
customers, suppliers and other business partners, the process of our initial
public offering (“IPO") went very smoothly. In addition to my gratitude to our
management team for their dedicated effort and to various professional
parties for their guidance and input during the IPO process, | would like to
take this opportunity to express my sincere appreciation to our shareholders
who have given a strong vote of confidence in the Group and its future.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company has resolved to announce the annual consolidated
results for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 on 25 March 2020. The
total revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$67.5 million (2018: HK$46.3 million), representing an
increase of approximately 46%. The net profit for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company stood at approximately HK$7.0 million (net
profit in 2018: HK$9.7 million). Basic and diluted earnings per share was
approximately 2.2 HK cents (2018: 3.2 HK cents). The Board considered that
the Group's result for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was
satisfactory. Excluding the non-recurring listing related expenses of
approximately HK$13.1 million and HK$4.7 million, being charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during 2019 and 2018,
respectively, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company would have
been approximately HK$20.1 million and HKS$14.4 million for the years ended

1 December 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Board has proposed a final
dividend of HKS2 cents per share.
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Chairman’s Statement

OVERALL BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Our growth on revenue was driven by the rise in demand from ASEAN
countries, especially Singaporean and Malaysian markets where we have
footprints for up to 10 years. By leveraging the opportunity of The Belt and
Road Initiative, Malaysia has cooperated with China to carry out a number of
infrastructure construction projects. Those infrastructural constructions have
driven the demand for slewing rings for construction equipment. We have
built a strong foundation with customers in these countries and the traditional
demand, such as forestry and mining activities on their natural resources, for
construction and heavy equipment are also benefiting our Group.

Meanwhile, the ongoing trade war between the U.S. and the PRC, whereby
the U.S. has imposed additional tariffs on a range of products imported into
the U.S. from the PRC which included slewing rings, the tariff rate of slewing
rings produced in the PRC has been further raised to 25% in July 2018. Despite
the increase in the tariff rate, our Directors consider that there will be no
material adverse effect on the results of our Group. This is primarily due to the
fact that our sales to the direct customers in the U.S. during the Track Record
Period only accounted for approximately HK$1.3 million and HK$2.3 million for
the two years ended 2018 and 2019 respectively, representing only about 2.8%
and 3.4% of our total revenue during such financial years. Despite the
imposition of a higher tariff rate, the slewing rings produced in the PRC will
still be cheaper when compared with the same products produced in other
countries such as Japan and Germany.

Furthermore, the U.S. and the PRC finally signed the long-awaited phase one
trade deal at the White House in January 2020. It is expected that the demand
from the U.S. for the PRC manufactured industrial products will remain stable
and have a natural growth rate in the foreseeable future.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

OUTLOOK

Our Company will continue to face potential competition from non-PRC
manufacturers in overseas markets, especially from the developed regions
such as Japan and Europe, where local manufacturers have relatively strong
experience to the local markets. However, comparing with these overseas
manufacturers, our Company still can maintain a price advantage, which may
help to attract customers.

The Group will continue to enhance the factory automation to alleviate the
impact of continuing increase in labour costs and overheads in the PRC. We
will also continue to enhance our brand recognition and awareness,
strengthen our production team and promote our corporate reputation.

APPRECIATION

I ' would like to take this opportunity to thank the finance team and the
external professional parties for their efforts made during the IPO process.
Also, | would like to extend my gratitude to all my fellow directors for their
strong leadership and all our staff for their contribution and cordial support
during the year.

The Group is aware of the outbreak of a pneumonia disease caused by
coronavirus in China and the number of confirmed cases in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group has deployed appropriate preventive measures to protect
the employees and provide them with a healthy and hygienic environment
both in the office and sites. We will continue to actively monitor the
coronavirus situation carefully so we can be agile and respond quickly to the
rapid development.

Above all, | remain focused in continuing to create value for our stakeholders. |
would like to express my deepest appreciation to the full trust and dedicated
support from our stakeholders.

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our Group is a premium manufacturer of slewing rings and also an “one-stop
service” provider as we are able to source other slewing rings, machineries and
other mechanical parts and components of machineries for customers. A
slewing ring is a necessary transmission part for some large-size machineries
and equipment, which can ensure the relative rotational motion between
objects, as well as bearing the axial force, radial force and tilting moment
simultaneously.

In order to cope with the Group’s business expansion, the shares of the
Company were successfully listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 15
November 2019.

The following table sets for the the breakdown of our quantities sold by
product category for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019.

AT

B E R W

£ e

AEEREERE S ASUER & [ — AR
HER  ARBEMTEASEFPRELMEE
ST B R RO B A B S R o BB
ATy ER D RELHA K 5t b RO (B ) BB 1 - 7]
R ZBHEEIEEES - RRAZHRA
1~ RS R ARRREE

REHREBEBRER - ARBROKINN=
Z—NhF+—RA+HBEBPTGEM £ -

TRANSGEHEZE_ZE—\FA_ZF—NF+=-A
—t+—HIEFERERBEREHEEERL -

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t=-A=+t—HLHFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Sets (%) Sets (%)
E (%) =
Quantities sold EE8E
Slewing rings o R
— ODM — ODM 3,198 29.2 2,283 17.3 915 40.1
— OEM — OEM 297 2.7 412 3.1 (115) (27.9)
— OBM — OBM 533 4.9 109 0.8 424 389.0
— Others — Hfb 749 6.8 463 35 286 61.8
4,777 43.6 3,267 247 1,510 46.2

Other machineries and parts L o 448 4, 2B 4 6,184 56.4 9,943 753 (3,759) (37.8)
Total st 10,961 100.0 13,210 100.0 (2,249) (17.0)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB R R L o AT

Slewing rings

We manufacture slewing rings for local and overseas customers primarily on
an original design manufacturing (“ODM”) basis. Our ODM customers include
companies engaged in general wholesale trading and distributor of
machineries and equipment or their parts, which will re-sell our products to
the end-users in the market and may provide the related after-sales service.
Our ODM business leverages on our in-depth market knowledge and know-
how accumulated through years of experience since our inception. We are
able to produce different models of slewing rings for our customers’ selection.
In the case of replacement of slewing rings, we can manufacture slewing rings
which already ceased production.

We also manufacture for some overseas customers on an OEM basis. Some of
the leading Japanese manufacturers of various machineries and equipment or
their affiliates are our OEM customers. Our OEM business includes the
manufacture and sale of products based on customers’ specifications and
guidelines. We also derive our revenue from sales of our proprietary branded
products under an original brand manufacturer (“OBM") basis.

Our revenue on sales of slewing rings for the year ended 31 December 2019
was higher than that for the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase was
principally attributable to the increase in number of slewing rings delivered to
our customers in the second and third quarter of 2019, the increase in sales of
ODM and OBM products and the increase in unit selling prices of our slewing
rings for the year ended 31 December 2019 as compared to the year ended 31
December 2018.

Other machineries and parts

We also source other slewing rings, machineries and mechanical parts and
components for customers. We maintain such line of business to complement
our main line of business which is the manufacture and sale of slewing rings
to enable our customers to enjoy a more comprehensive “one-stop service”
from us. The slewing rings that we source for our customers are mainly (i)
models which we do not currently produce; and (i) those which would not be
commercially sound for our Group to produce ourselves when compared to
sourcing due to small scale orders or low profit margin. The mechanical parts
and components included but not limited to undercarriage parts such as track
chains, rollers and track shoes.

Our revenue on sales of other machinery parts for the year ended 31
December 2019 was higher than that for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The increase was mainly due to the difference in product mix of other
machineries and parts for both years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

The Group's revenue increased by 45.9% or HK$21.2 million from HK$46.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to HK$67.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by product
category for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019:

BEEEN WA

Bt %5 O 8

W &=

AREBHERFZHEE T \F+-_A=+—
HIEFEM463EBEBTIEMNA50%H212EE
BLEHE_T-—NF+A=+T—HILFE
675 HBEBTT ©

TRIWNGEHEZE_ZE—N\FER_ZE-NLF+H
—t+—HIFERERERNE S HIREERAL

For the year ended 31 December

BE+—-—A=+—HLEE

2019 2018 +/()
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 (%)  HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET (%) TAT FET
Revenue Iy %
Slewing rings o R
— ODM — ODM 42,818 63.4 31,114 673 11,704 376
— OEM — OEM 951 1.4 1,272 2.7 (321) (25.2)
— OBM — OBM 5,569 8.3 1,304 2.8 4,265 327.1
— Others — HAth 10,612 15.7 7,620 16.5 2,992 393

59,950 88.8 41310 89.3 18,640 45.1
Other machineries and parts H {4 7,559 11.2 4,957 10.7 2,602 525
Total et 67,509 100.0 46,267 100.0 21,242 459

Slewing rings HELE B

We manufacture slewing rings for local and overseas customers primarily on
ODM, OEM and OBM basis. Revenue from slewing rings grew by HK$18.6
million to HK$60.0 million, representing a growth of 45.1%. The growth was
mainly attributed to the increase in sales on the OBM basis and OBM basis
during the year. The quantities sold for ODM and OBM were also increased by
40.1% and 389.0%, respectively.

Other machineries and parts

We also source other slewing rings, machineries and mechanical parts and
components for customers. Such mechanical parts and components included
but not limited to undercarriage parts such as track chains, rollers and track
shoes. Revenue from the other machineries and parts also increased by 52.5%
year-on-year or HK$2.6 million to HK$7.6 million. The increase of revenue was
mainly due to the difference in product mix of other machineries and parts for
both years.

FAGEE % ODM * OEM Kz OBM E 2 5 7K b 1
HNE P B EE S R o PR A I Y R A Uk s 1
MNseE BB T E00E BB T IR A
45.19% ° 118 = B A 7 F N iR OBM E % K OBM
EEREEIZ AN - ODM & OBM 8 757 B N
40.1% }% 389.0% ©

H A & B
HFITRRE P RE A8 SR - e R
TEIF - ZFHWMT M BB ETRREL R
- WESRE  REMNRESR KA E R
Ko BB ) U gk TR IR S N 52.5% 3 2.6 B & BT
E76EEAT - Wat B MEEHAMEFEHR
M EREENER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Geographical location IRV E

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by geographical TRAEHZEZE —_E— \FhR_ZE—HLF+H

location of our customers for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019: —t—HIEFEREFHIENES DM EH
i

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-HLKFE

2019 2018 +/(-)
—E—hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 (%)  HKS$'000 ) HK$'000
T T (%) TAT ' T
Singapore Honig 32,555 48.2 24,082 52.1 8473 352
Malaysia P i 18,737 27.8 5,603 12.1 13,134 2344
Hong Kong Fes> 4,537 6.7 6,445 139 (1,908) (29.6)
Japan SRiN 4,105 6.1 961 2.1 3,144 327.2
The United States of America EFERAE RE
("USA") (%@ 2,346 3.4 1312 2.8 1,034 78.3
The PRC & 2,018 3.0 3,153 6.8 (1,135) (36.0)
Canada JlEpN 1,003 1.5 650 14 353 543
Taiwan =y 945 1.4 753 16 192 255
Northern Ireland Bl T 875 1.3 2,350 5.1 (1,475) (62.8)
Thailand B 142 0.2 734 16 (592) (80.7)
Others H 246 0.4 224 0.5 22 9.8
67,509 100.0 46,267 100.0 21,242 459

Revenue generated from the Singaporean market increased from HK$24.1  REFIETISHNEBREZ T —N\F+=
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 by 35.2% to HK$32.6 million for A=+ —HIEFER) 241 B EBITIEIN352% =
the year ended 31 December 2019 and for the Malaysian market from HK$5.6 B EZZZFT—NF+_A=+—HIEFEM326
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 by 234.4% to HK$18.7 millionfor B &EIL - HARALMHZAIBAEE_T—N\F
the year ended 31 December 2019. Revenue generated from the Singaporean T+ H =+ — B IEFE H56 A &8 T8 hN
and Malaysian markets accounted for 76.0% of total revenue for the year 2344%ZEBE_ZT—NF+-_A=+—RHILF
ended 31 December 2019, while it only accounted for 64.2% for the year [EEV187 A&B T o RE MK K FRFET
ended 31 December 2018. SRR EEHEZS-F+A=1+—H1
FEAREN760%  MEBEZE-_ZT—\F+_A
=t+—RIEFEEE642% -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our growth on revenue was driven by the rise in demand from ASEAN
countries, especially Singaporean and Malaysian markets where we have
footprints for up to 10 years. By leveraging the opportunity of The Belt and
Road Initiative, Malaysia has cooperated with China to carry out a number of
infrastructure construction projects. Those infrastructural constructions have
driven the domestic demand for slewing rings for construction equipment.
We have built a strong foundation with customers in these countries and the
traditional demand such as forestry and mining activities on their natural
resources for construction and heavy equipment are also benefiting our
Group.

On the other hand, revenue generated from the PRC Market decreased from
HK$3.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 by 36% to HK$2.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019 and for the Hong Kong Market from
HKS$6.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 by 29.6% to
HKS$4.5million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease was mainly
due to the influence of the product mix shifting and the continuous keen
price competition.

COST OF SALES
The following table sets for the the breakdown of our costs of sales for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019:

AT

B E R W

BN R R R R BRZIERNFT K
B LERMMEEFRADHE - RARK
EMHEYREIF - BT REZOHE
B BRASETEAFRRZEEZTER
B -ZRTRERBEH - EHEDEZERBHEEX
AENAE - HPEEZFEFINEPELIZE
A MMAERFRBESEERAERTEE
BERBERRENERTLELBNNAKHE -

A—FHE REFETSNREHEE-Z
—N\E+-A=+t—BItFEEN32EBEBTH
VINEHEE_TE-NF+-_A=+—HLF
ER20B&EL BEMBUHEBEEZZE—N
FH+ZA=F+—HIEFEMNc4EEB TR D
WHEHE_ET—NF+_A=+—HILF
ER45BEBT RO DNTEAREREESE
B R ERFEFFERR

HERA
TRINBEBE-ZFT - \FR_F-NF+_H
=+ RIEFENHERANHFA

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2019 2018 +/(-)
—EB-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 (C)] HKS'000 HKS'000
F&T (%) THET

Cost of sales SHERA

Cost of inventories and consumables 17 & X & # G ik 2 27,668 76.8 15,886 64.7 11,782 74.2
Depreciation e 1,578 4.4 2,496 102 (918) (36.8)
Overheads KA 2,266 6.2 2,160 88 106 50
Direct labour costs BESIKA 4,530 12.6 4,017 163 513 12.8
Total @t 36,042 100.0 24,559 100.0 11,483 46.8

The cost of sales primarily consists of cost of inventories and consumables,
depreciation on plant and machinery, overheads and direct labour costs
relating to our production. The Group’s cost of sales increased from HK$24.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 by 46.8% or HK$11.5 million to
HKS$36.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, which was primarily
due to the increase in revenue and direct labour costs during the year.

HEXNATZRREGFERBERMAE - 5 &
MWITE  HEEFENRERARERST
BRA - REBRBEEXNABEE T —\F
T A=+ —HLEFEN246cEE B TEM
468% K 1N SEBBLEHE_T—NF+A
—t+—HIEFEN3OESE BT TEBHNEF
kS & B B T A0 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - —ZE— N &R 15



Management Discussion and Analysis

AT

BB W

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses of the Group in 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$20.4 million, increased from HKS$9.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 by 119.4% or HK$11.1 million to HK$20.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 . Such increase was mainly due to the increase in
non-recurring listing related expenses of approximately HK$8.4 million;
increase in staff cost by approximately by HK$0.9 million; and the net increase
in other administrative expenses by approximately HK$1.8 million. Other
administrative expenses mainly represent the auditor's remuneration and the
legal and professional fees, which assisted the Group to enhance its corporate
governance and compliance aspects after the Listing.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
HK$7.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, as compared to
approximately HK$9.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Excluding the non-recurring listing related expenses of approximately HK$13.1
million and HK$4.7 million, being charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during 2019 and 2018, respectively, profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company would have been approximately HK$20.1
million and HK$14.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has financed its business with internally generated cash flows and
proceeds received from the Listing. As at 31 December 2019, the Group's cash
and cash equivalents were HK$49.0 million, increased by 642.4% or HK$42.4
million, as compared with HK$6.6 million as at 31 December 2018. The
increase was mainly attributable to the receipt of proceeds from the Listing.
Bank deposits and cash were principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar,
United States dollar and Renminbi. The Group will continue to use the
internally generated cash flows and proceeds received from the Listing as a
source of funding for future developments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's total current assets and current liabilities
were HKS$91.2 million (as at 31 December 2018: HK$40.2 million) and HK$6.3
million (as at 31 December 2018: HK$7.3 million) respectively, representing a
current ratio of 14.5 times (as at 31 December 2018: 5.5 times). As at 31
December 2019, the Group did not have any bank borrowings (as at 31
December 2018: Nil). As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group
was not applicable as it had no outstanding debt (as at 31 December 2018:
Nil). The gearing ratio equals total interest bearing borrowings divided by total
equity and multiplied by 100%.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the share capital of the Group comprised only
ordinary shares. The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of
obligations under finance leases and equity attributable to owners of the
Group, comprising issued share capital, share premium, retained profits and
other reserves.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 15 November 2019, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000 shares by
way of Hong Kong public offering and placing at a price of HK$0.55 per share,
and successfully listed its shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The net proceeds of the Share Offer received by the Company in relation to
the Listing after the deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and all
related expenses were approximately HK$28.4 million. As at the report date,
the directors consider that these proceeds have been applied in accordance
with the proposed application set out in the section headed “Future Plans and
Proposed Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 31
October 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

AT

B E R W
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Comparison of business objectives and actual business ENEHEHERERER LR

progress

The following is a comparison between the Group’s business plans as set out A T AHABIREEM N EB LB T2 R AE
in the Prospectus and the Group's actual business progress for the yearended BEZE —E—NLF+_A=+—HIEFEEE
31 December 2019: XGER

Business plan as set out in the Prospectus Actual business progress as at 31 December 2019

BREREZNEETE REB-NFFT-A=1T-—HNEBRXKER

To acquire and replacing machineries and equipment with ~ The Group was in the process of purchasing 3 units of machines and
an aim to enhance and expand our production capacity at ~ had committed and paid deposits amounted to approximately
our production facilities in Dongguan, the PRC HK$3.4 million for the machineries.
PERENEERGEE REREN R REARA  RNEEEREIEEN - TR NA34B8BTHIRSE -

EERE

To enlarge our market share and strengthening our  The Group had taken action including the enrolment in various

marketing efforts exhibition.

EATIS M0 RN & H N E REEDRRTE  BENSBEREETIHE -

To increase our level of automation The Group is in the process of identifying and appointing the
‘e BT consultant company for such purpose.

AEEEYENERREERAR -

To establish our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system  The Group is in the process of identifying and appointing the system
AR EEIRFE (ERP) R4 service provider.
AEBEYENRIERGHERS -

To expand our finance department The Group is in the process of identifying suitable and quality
BRI ET candidates for the purpose of filling its open positions.
REEFFEESHBENREAERFZER o

To enhance staff training The Group had taken action and prepared training courses for
hnag 8 T3 enrolment by staff.
REEDERRITEN = 8 THEE ABIEIIRRE

Working capital The Group had utilised approximately HK$0.3 million as working
LBE® capital for of on-going operations.
AEEEBHAYOBEEET ERFHERENEEER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

An analysis of the planned usage of net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus
and the actual utilisation of the net proceeds from the Listing Date up to 31
December 2019 are set out below:

Use of proceeds

Percentage of Net
net proceeds
BRE

fhi

REEIML

To acquire and replace machineries and equipment Y58 2 B 4, K SR 8 UASE

with an aim to enhance and expand our
production capacity at our production facilities

RERBEREEERE

E#

AT

B E R W

HRARERNHERASRIEFRE LB LD
HHZE_Z-AF+_A=+—HHNERKREHR
FTSSRF BRI D ITE N XHEI -

FRERERE

Amount
remaining
BT

&8
HK$'000
TER

Amount
proceeds utilized
Fifs B A
HIERE &8
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TExT

in Dongguan, the PRC 60.6% 17,210 3,360 13,850

To enlarge our market share and strengthen BATSHERNREHENE
our marketing efforts 14.6% 4,146 25 4121
To increase our level of automation ReB88KE 7.6% 2,158 - 2,158
To establish our ERP system RILERP R HE 6.0% 1,704 - 1,704
To expand our finance department ThE BT 6P 5.0% 1419 - 1419
To enhance staff training Mg 8 TH3 0.8% 227 1 226
Working capital EEES 54% 1536 282 1254
100.0% 28400 3,668 1732

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has utilised approximately HK$3.7 million
as discussed in the above actual business progress for the above usage. The
unutilised amount of the net proceeds have been deposited with licensed
banks in Hong Kong.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not hold any significant investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

RZE-NF+ZA=+—H #AWLEXERE
ERERm - ARECH AR EAY
37ESEET - RBBABIRFRANFRES
BV REERTT o

EARE

RZB-AE+ZA=+—A AEELEH
BEAEARE -
BEARBRESHEBAR  BEAQ
AREERT
RBE-ZT-NF+-A=+—BLFE &
SEMEEARBRHENBAR  BEAF

RABRTE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - —ZE— N &R 19



Management Discussion and Analysis

BB R R L o AT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 83 employees (as at 31 December
2018: 78 employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. The emoluments of the Directors are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”), with reference to their respective contribution
of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s matters. In addition, employees
are entitled to performance and discretionary year-end bonuses.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any mortgage or charge
over its assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to changes in foreign exchange
rates. Our Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to USD and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these
currencies. Currently, the Group has not entered into agreements or
purchased instruments to hedge the Group'’s exchange rate risks. Any material
fluctuation in the exchange rates of HKD or RMB may have an impact on the
operating results of the Group.

The management considers that the foreign exchange risk with respect to
USD is not significant as HKD is pegged to USD and transactions denominated
in USD are mainly carried out by entities with the same functional currency.
The exchange rate of RMB to HKD is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group
manages foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS

Our goal is to strengthen our position as a premium slewing ring
manufacturer, and to leverage on our competitive advantages to expand the
scale of our operation and increase our profit margin. We also aim to increase
our competitiveness in this fragmented slewing rings manufacturing industry
by (i) increasing our efficiency and productivity; (i) raising the quality of our
products; and (iii) reducing our costs of production and our reliance on
manpower. To achieve such objective, the Group will continue to implement
the following strategies:

acquiring and replacing machineries and equipment with an aim to
enhance and expand our production capacity at our production
facilities in Dongguan, the PRC;

enlarging our market share and strengthening our marketing efforts;
increasing our level of automation;

establishing our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system;

expanding our finance department; and

enhancing staff training.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSATIERE

As at 18 March 2020, the date of the Report of the Directors, the biographical
details of the directors (the “Director(s)”) and senior management of Best
Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’) are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (BRA2#2) ("Mir. YP Chan”), aged 40, is the executive Director,
chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and the Controlling
Shareholder of our Group. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Since 2007, Mr. YP Chan has been responsible for the overall
management of our Group, including strategic planning, as well as sales and
business development. He was appointed director of Wing Fung, Kyoei Seiki
and Best Linking in June 2007, August 2007 and December 2018 respectively
and was appointed Director on 26 October 2018 and was re-designated as an
executive Director on 12 March 2019.

Mr. YP Chan completed his Form 7 education in Avondale College in Auckland,
New Zealand. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. YP Chan attended Auckland University
of Technology and took courses in business computing, applied science and
information technology. In March 2004, Mr. YP Chan obtained a certificate in
advanced Japanese language course) at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan.

Mr. YP Chan is an entrepreneur with over 10 years operational experience. He
was involved in the trading of machineries and spare parts in Hong Kong and
manufacture and sales of spare parts in the PRC. After completing the
advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan in 2004, Mr. YP Chan worked as a sales and
marketing executive in a company engaged in distribution and exportation of
confectionery and related products from December 2004 to December 2005
in Sapporo, Japan, which enabled him not only to further his Japanese
language skill, but also gave him the opportunity to develop his network
within the Japanese business community. After returning to Hong Kong,
starting from January 2006, he worked in South Wing Machinery Co. Limited
as a sales and marketing executive and gained experience in the sale and
supply of heavy duty equipment and parts industry. In September 2007, he
founded Kyoei Seiki through Wing Fung which is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of slewing rings. Throughout the past 10 years, Mr.
YP Chan has established and maintained strong business relationship with
general wholesale traders or distributors of machineries or parts in Asia, USA,
Europe and Japan and gained valuable experience in the manufacture and
sale of spare parts for machineries.

Mr. YP Chan is the brother of Mr. LP Chan, an executive Director of the
Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chan Lung Pan (BRBEHY) (‘Mr. LP Chan’), aged 38, was appointed an executive
Director on 12 March 2019. He first joined our Group in November 2005 as
director and shareholder of Wing Fung. Wing Fung had no business
operations until September 2007 when Mr. YP Chan utilised his personal
resources and internal resources of Wing Fung to establish Kyoei Seiki. Mr. LP
Chan resigned from his directorship position in April 2011 to pursue his other
career development. He is also a member of the Remuneration Committee.
He is responsible for human resources management of our Group.

Mr. LP Chan attended Avondale College in Auckland, New Zealand, where he
was enrolled as an international student in Year 12 from February 1998 to
December 1999. He obtained his school certificate from the New Zealand
Qualifications Authority in New Zealand in 1999 and later studied Japanese in
Tohoku Foreign Language and Tourism College in Japan from October 2000
to March 2002.

Mr. LP Chan has over 15 years of experience in procurement and
management. He commenced his career in South Wing Machinery Co. Limited
in September 2003 as a trainee. He was subsequently promoted to the post of
purchase and sales manager from 1 April 2009 to 30 September 2011, being
responsible for purchase management, inventory control, contract
negotiations, department co-ordination and complaints handling.

Mr. LP Chan is the brother of Mr. YP Chan, and executive Director of the
Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (BR5Af2) (‘Mr. Adrian Chan’), aged 41, was appointed
an independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. He is responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, internal control, corporate
governance and providing independent advice to our Group.

Mr. Adrian Chan graduated from the University of New South Wales, Australia
with a bachelor degree in commerce in accounting and finance in April 2000.
He became a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 2006 and November 2009 respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Adrian Chan has over 9 years of experience in the field of corporate
finance. He started his career with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked in
the audit department of the firm from January 2000 to March 2000. Mr. Adrian
Chan then worked in various financial institutions and investment banks,
including DBS Vickers Securities, with his last position as an executive in the
corporate finance department, from April 2000 to December 2001, DBS Asia
Capital Limited, with his last position as assistant vice president in equity
capital markets, wholesale banking-global financial markets from January 2002
to July 2005, and UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited, with his last position as
associate director, from July 2005 to November 2009. After leaving UOB Asia
(Hong Kong) in November 2009, Mr. Adrian Chan switched his career from
corporate finance to financial management. From November 2009 to June
2015, he was the chief financial officer of Enviro Energy International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1102), where he was responsible for overall financial
management, internal control function and accounting function. In July 2015,
Mr. Adrian Chan was appointed the chief financial officer of Sun Ray Capital
Investment Corporation. In July 2018, Mr. Adrian Chan was appointed the chief
financial officer of LabyRx Immunologic Therapeutics Limited and in August 2018,
Mr. Adrian Chan was appointed the chief financial officer of Lifespans Limited.

The details of directorship held in public listed companies by Mr. Adrian Chan
are as follows:

Principal business
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Petromin Resources Ltd. Petroleum and natural gas PTRH Toronto Venture Director, chief financial December 2015
exploration and production Stock Exchange officer and corporate to March 2018
secretary
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam (EBI5E8) (‘Ms. Tsang"), aged 45, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. She is
responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, internal control, corporate governance and
providing independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tsang graduated from The University of Melbourne, Australia with a
bachelor's degree of commerce in December 1996 and a master degree in
practising accounting from Monash University, Australia in November 2000.
She became a member of CPA Australia in July 2001.

Ms. Tsang has over 22 years of experience in the field of taxation. She started
her career in PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and worked with the firm
from February 1997 to March 2003, with her last position as senior consultant,
where she obtained experience in tax compliance matters. Between
November 2004 and February 2007, Ms. Tsang worked in Ross Melville PKF in
Auckland, New Zealand with her last position as tax consultant. She then
rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong as senior consultant in
February 2007 and stayed with the firm until April 2010 with her last position
as manager. Between April 2010 and April 2015, Ms. Tsang was employed by
BDO Limited with her last position as tax principal of Hong Kong tax team. From
April 2015 up to now, she has been working in a private equity real estate
investment group as vice president responsible for overseeing the tax matters.

Ms. Tam Ho Ting GBAJ#E) ("Ms. Tam"), aged 41, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee and the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. She is responsible for overseeing
the areas with regard to the strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
internal control, corporate governance and providing independent advice to
our Group.

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor degree in business administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 2000. In January 2008, she was
admitted an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. Ms. Tam has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since July 2009 as well as a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since October 2015.
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Ms. Tam has over 18 years of work experience in the accounting and financial
work sector. Before joining our Group, Ms. Tam worked in various accounting
firms and multi-national companies. She started her career in the assurance
and business advisory department in Moores Rowland and worked there from
September 2000 to December 2002, with her last position as associate Ill. From
December 2002 to March 2004, Ms. Tam worked as an assistant manager in
KPMG, Hong Kong. From April 2004 to June 2007, she worked in Hutchison
Telecommunications (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings Limited (stock code:
215), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with her final
position as senior accountant in the finance and administration division. From
June 2007 to August 2010, Ms. Tam worked in Avery Dennison Hong Kong,
B.V., with her last position as finance manager in the production and costing
sector of the financial planning and analysis department. Ms. Tam then
worked as manager in the financial analysis department in Hasbro Far East
Limited, Hong Kong from August 2011 to August 2013. Since November 2013,
Ms. Tam has provided accounting and book-keeping services to private
companies engaged in various sectors of industries in Hong Kong, including
pharmacy services and other services. In September 2018, Ms. Tam established
CT Business Services Limited whose principal activity is the provision of
accounting and book-keeping services.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert (FR385) (“Mr. Chan’), aged 32, joined our Group as
the chief financial officer on 1 November 2018. He was later appointed the
chief operation officer and company secretary of our Group on 12 March 2019.
He is primarily responsible for overseeing overall accounting, financial
management, operation and compliance functions and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor degree in commerce (accounting) from
Macquarie University in Australia in September 2009. He further obtained a
master’s degree in financial analysis from The University of New South Wales
in August 2010. Mr. Chan has been a member of CPA Australia since
December 2013. Mr. Chan has over 8 years of work experience in accounting
and finance covering a vast range of clientele including manufacturing and
food and beverage industries. From December 2010 to October 2013, Mr.
Chan worked in BDO Limited, with his last position as senior associate, where
he participated in the annual audit and special engagement of listed
companies in Hong Kong. From October 2013 to July 2018, Mr. Chan worked
in PricewaterhouseCoopers, with his last position as manager in assurance
practice, where he has been involved in audits for public, sizable private and
multinational companies as well as initial public offerings.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Chen Fang (B35) ("Ms. Chen"), aged 48, is our financial controller and
assistant to the chief executive officer. Ms. Chen joined the finance
department of Group in September 2007. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the financial and accounting management of Kyoei Seiki.

Ms. Chen graduated from Shaanxi Labor College (Bt7H T & Z65T) in the PRC
in July 1998 with a diploma in computing and accounting (it SR &+ 5
3£) and has over 10 years of experience in accounting work. Prior to joining
our Group, between January 2002 and December 2003, Ms. Chen worked in
Guangzhou BaiJi Engineering Machinery Parts Co.,, Ltd* (&M A& T2 1%
WRBC 4B BR 2 B]) in Guangzhou, the PRC in the accounting department.
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Report fthe Directors
EEEW

The directors of the Company submit their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 26 October 2018. The
registered office of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

Pursuant to the completion of the reorganisation as detailed in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Group Structure” in the Prospectus to
rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange, the Company became the holding
company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. The Shares of the
Company were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 15 November
2019 through Share Offer as described in the section headed “Structure and
Conditions of the Share Offer” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'’S SHARE
OFFER

The aggregate net proceeds from the Share Offer (after deducting listing
related expenses borne by the Company) amounted to approximately
HK$28.4 million. The proposed application of net proceeds as stated in the
Prospectus has been adjusted according to the principles and proposed
percentage of utilisation as specified in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. The use of proceeds from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2019 is included in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 17.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year as required by Schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the Group'’s
business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be
found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 11 to 21
of this annual report and the section headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control” on page 50 of the Corporate Governance Report in this annual
Report. In addition, discussion on Group’s environmental policies and
compliance with relevant laws and regulation which have signification impact
on the Group are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 56 to 85 of this annual report. The discussion forms part of
this directors’ report.
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Report of the Directors

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in page 94.

The directors now recommend the payment of final dividend of HK2 cents per
share to the shareholders, amounting to a total sum of HK$8,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2019 whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 5 June 2020, subject to the approval of
the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on
Friday, 29 May 2020. The proposed final dividend will be despatched to
shareholders on 30 June 2020. Details of the Group's dividend policy are set
out in the corporate governance report on page 54.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM
to be held on Friday, 29 May 2020, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 26 May 2020 to Friday, 29 May 2020 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will be
effected. In order to qualify for entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Center, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 25 May 2020.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 4 June
2020 to Friday, 5 June 2020 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares in the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for
entitlement in the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell
Center, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 3 June 2020.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of Cayman Islands
which oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
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DONATION

No charitable or other donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note
22 to the consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 2019, the
Company's reserves available for distribution amounted to HK$23.5 million.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Notes 33
and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 26 October 2018)

Mr. Chan Lung Pan (appointed on 12 March 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan
(appointed on 21 October 2019)
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam
(appointed on 21 October 2019)
Ms. Tam Ho Ting
(appointed on 21 October 2019)

Biographical details of the directors are set out in pages 22 to 27 of this Annual
Report.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a causal vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each AGM,

provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yuk Pan and Mr. Chan Lung Pan shall retire at the
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years and shall continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms of the service agreement.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year and shall continue
thereafter until it is terminated by either party by giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statement.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2019, the interests or short positions of the Company’s
directors and the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (the
“SFO")) which are required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of
dealings by Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

RAERTRG RAEABRDHFE

Name of substantial shareholder Capacity/
nature of interest

TERROHE EBED EEME

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan’s Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1)

BRISH SE AN IR B R (M5E1)

Percentage of interest

Total number in our Company'’s

of share(s) held issued capital
RAEQT S BT

PR IR 43 88 RAERNA DL
300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
300,000,000 B& A&7 (1) 75%
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Note 1: Mr. YP Chan legally and beneficially owns the entire issued share of C Centrum Holdings
Limited ("C Centrum”) and is its sole director. Accordingly, Mr. YP Chan is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2: The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the directors or
chief executives has any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company or Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interest and short positions which he was taken or deemed
to have under provision of the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Share Option Scheme

Our Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was approved by written resolutions passed by its
shareholders on 21 October 2019 and became unconditional on 15 November
2019. Our directors consider the purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
reward the participants defined under the Share Option Scheme for their past
contribution to the success of the Group and to provide incentive to them to
further contribute to our Group. The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarized under the paragraph headed “13. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus and in accordance with the
provisions of Chapter 21 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary
of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

1.  Purpose and Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and service
providers of our Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group. The Board is entitled to determine and make an offer of
grant of an option to any eligible persons.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years
from the date of the grant of option.
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Report of the Directors

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the total issued Shares of the
Company as at the Listing Date unless the Company obtains an
approval from the Shareholders. Therefore, the Company may grant
options of up to 40,000,000 Shares (or such number of Shares as result
from a subdivision or a consolidation of such 40,000,000 Shares from
time to time) to the participants under the Share Option Scheme.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options shall be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the limit being
exceeded

Maximum entitlement of Shares of each eligible participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
all the share options granted and to be granted to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
inissue. Any further grant of options is subject to shareholders’ approval
in general meeting with such Eligible Participants and his associates
abstaining from voting

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date on which the option is
offered to an eligible participant, provided that the period from such
date shall not be more than ten years after the adoption date of the
Share Option Scheme or after the termination of the Share Option
Scheme.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

An offer for the grant must be accepted within seven days inclusive of
the day on which such offer was made.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option and the period
within which payments shall be made

The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of
the offer for the grant of an options is HKD1.00.
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7. The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be at such price as
determined by our Board and notified to an eligible person, and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date, which must be a
trading day, on which our Board passes a resolution approving the
making of an offer of grant of an option to an eligible participant; (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant of the share option.

8.  The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to earlier termination of the Share Option Scheme by the
Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme
will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further share options shall be granted. All share options granted prior to
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2019
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, its subsidiaries or its fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any of the Company’s
directors or members of its management (Including their spouse and children
under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, or had exercise any such rights in the Company or
other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Transaction, Arrangement or Contracts
of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
company was a party and in which any of the Company’s directors or
members of its management had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted in the year ended 31 December 2019 or at any time
during the year.
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Report of the Directors

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2019, so far as known by the directors, the following
persons (not being a director or chief executive of the Company) had interest
or short position in shares or underlying shares and debentures of Company
and its associated corporation which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as follow:

Name of substantial

shareholder Capacity Nature of interest

TERRNWES EBED

EEnE

C Centrum (ete?) Beneficial owner

C Centrum (1) EmBBA
Ms. Leung Tak Yee (ote2 Interest of Spouse

Leung Tak Yee 2L == (#2) [TV

Note 1: The entire issued shares of C Centrum is legally beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Yuk Pan.
Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 Shares held by
C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2: Ms. Leung Tak Yee is the spouse of Mr. Chan Yuk Pan and is deemed to be interested in all
the underlying Shares that Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is interested through C Centrum by virtue of
the SFO.

Note 3: The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no other person (other than
director or chief executive of the Company) had any interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed to the
Company , or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sales and Redemption of Shares

Save for Reorganisation as disclosed in the Prospectus, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the directors or their respective close associates is or was interested in
any business apart from the Group's business that competes or competed or
is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group's
business at any time during the period from the Listing Date and up to the
date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed, no other equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2019.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2019 are set out in
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are set out
in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. The Directors consider
that those related party transactions did not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Group has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2019.
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Report of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue for the year attributable to the Group’s major
customers are as follows:

Sales HE
The largest customer RAEFP
Five largest customers combined AREBFEE

—

EEERE

FEEFRHAER
FEBNEBESEEFNRENE LT

Percentage

Bak

27%
75%

The percentage of purchases for the year attributable to the Group's major
suppliers are as follows:

Purchases BE
The largest supplier BAHLIER

hARHEE AR

Five largest suppliers combined

AEENEZHEREEFARBENEDL
LU

Percentage

Bt

41%
82%

None of the directors, their associates or any other shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company'’s share
capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its suppliers, customers and stakeholders to meet its immediate and
long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles of Association, every director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a director of the Company. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’” and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors.
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INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, LY Capital Limited ("LY
Capital’), neither LY Capital nor any of its directors or employees or close
associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company or any
member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for such
securities) or otherwise in relation to the Company which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules
(except for the compliance adviser agreement entered into between the
Company and LY Capital on 27 March 2019) as at the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are as set out in the corporate governance report in pages 39 to 55
of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoppers will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
period from 15 November 2019 to 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting
Period”). The Company wishes to highlight the importance of the Board in
ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company, transparency and
accountability of all aspects of operations and that the business is conducted
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company recognizes that good corporate governance is vital to the
success of the Group and to sustain the development of the Group. The
Company aims at complying with, where appropriate, all code provisions
("Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 15 November 2019. The
code provisions as set out in the CG Code were not applicable to the
Company prior to the Listing Date. Throughout the Reporting Period, the
Company has complied, to the extent applicable and permissible, with all
Code Provisions set out in CG Code with the exception of Code A.2.1 as
explained under the paragraph “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code regulating the securities transactions of
Directors and executive officers named in this annual report, on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Specific enquiry had been made to all Directors and relevant employees. They
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines regulating the
transactions of securities of the Company by senior management and
employees who are likely to be in possession of any inside information of the
Company.
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The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board,
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters which include,
inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgeting, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those which may involve conflict of interests of
substantial shareholder(s) or Director(s)), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The Board
has the full support from the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Company in discharging its responsibilities.

The Board has complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules to
have at least three independent non-executive Directors who represent more
than one-third of the Board with at least one of them who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive Director (the
“INED") a written annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rules 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) has assessed the independence of
each INED. The Company is of the view that all INEDS fulfil the relevant
independence requirement throughout the Reporting Period. Each INED will
inform the Company in writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of
circumstances which may affect his/her independence.
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Composition
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board is as follows:

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationship between
the members of the Board, if any, are provided in the “Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section
"Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, the Directors have
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships with
each other.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures for the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.

All Directors are appointed for specific tenures subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and subject to re-election at the
annual general meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years, which shall be renewed as
determined by the Board or the Shareholders of the Company. The
appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated by either
party in accordance with the terms thereof and retirement and re-election
provisions in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the INEDs has accepted an appointment with the Company for an
initial term of one year and shall be automatically renewed for another year.
The appointment of each of the INEDs may be terminated by either party
giving at least one month written notice to the other, subject to relevant
terms of their respective appointments and the Articles.
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Continuing professional development

Newly appointed Directors receive induction on the occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Group's
various governance and internal control policies. The Company also, at its
expense, arranges and provides suitable training, placing an appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
secretary of the Company is responsible for maintaining and updating records
for the Directors’ training sessions. Up to the date of this report, the Directors
have participated in continuous professional development by attending
courses or studying relevant materials on the topics related to corporate
governance and relevant updates of the rules and regulations.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect of
legal action against the Directors and officers against loss or liability sustained
or incurred arising from or incidental to the execution of their duties. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis or on intervals as deemed
appropriate by the Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

According to code provision A.1.1 of the CG code, board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with active
participation of a majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

During the Reporting Period, no Board meeting or general meeting of the
Company was held due to the limited period after listing. On 18 March 2020,
the Company held Board meeting and all Board committee meetings in
compliance with CG code. Going forward, the Company will also convene the
annual general meeting with reference to the GEM Listing Rules and CG Code.
Attendance includes physical attendance and attendance by telephone and
by the video conference.

During the Reporting Period, the Chairman did not hold any private meeting

with any of the INEDs without the presence of the executive Directors due to
the limited period after listing.
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Practices and Conduct of Board Meetings

A schedule of Board meetings dates is fixed for each year in advance. At least
7 days’ formal notice of all regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and
all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. The agenda and Board papers for each meeting are sent to all
Directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is responsible for
preparing the agendas of board meetings, taking into account any matters
the Directors may propose to include, ensuring that all Directors are given
opportunity to include matters in the agendas and approving the agendas. To
enable the Directors to make informed decisions, agendas and accompanying
papers, together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are
sent to all Directors or all committees members at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors and committee
members appraised of the latest developments and/or financial position of
the Company. The Board and the individual Directors also have access to the
senior management to make further enquires or when they require further
information, in addition to those volunteered by the senior management.

The Company Secretary attended all regular Board meetings and, whenever
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on statutory
compliance, corporate governance matters and to ensure that the Company’s
policies and procedures were properly followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for preparing and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. The minutes recorded sufficient
details of matters considered, decisions reached, concerns raised and
dissenting views expressed, if any. Draft and final versions of minutes are
circulated to the Directors for comment and records within a reasonable time
after each meeting. The final version is kept by the Company Secretary and
opened for the Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction or matter which
involves conflicting interests of a substantial shareholder or a Director, are
dealt with by a duly convened physical Board meeting, at which independent
non-executive Directors having no material interest in the transaction should
be present. Any Director or any of their close associates having material
interests in the transaction or matter shall abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at meetings for approving such transactions.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
specific aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each Board committee was
established with defined written terms of reference setting out its authorities
and duties and requiring the Board Committees to report back to the Board
on their decisions or recommendations (unless otherwise restricted by
applicable legal or regulatory requirements). To provide transparency, the
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company's and
the Stock Exchange's websites and hard copies of the same are available to
shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee consists of a majority of INEDs. Chairman and members
of each Board committee as at the date of this report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (Chairman)*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Remuneration Committee
Ms. Tam Ho Ting (Chairman)*
Mr. Chan Lung Pan**

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Nomination Committee
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman)**
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

* Independent non-executive Director

e Executive Director

The Board committees have been provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. YP Chan currently holds both positions for the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this report. As Mr. YP Chan has been
responsible for the overall management of the Group, including strategic
planning as well as sales and business development, the Board considered
that Mr. YP Chan is the suitable candidate to continue to hold both positions.

Audit Committee

Our Company established an audit committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM
Listing Rules and paragraphs C3.3 and C3.7 of the CG Code. The audit
committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors; namely Mr.
Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms. Tsang. Mr. Adrian Chan, who has appropriate
professional qualification and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed to serve as the chairman of the audit committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, the
followings:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function, compliance officer
or external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to review the Company’s relationship with the external auditor with
reference to the work it performed, its fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and, if appropriate, removal of external auditor;

(c)  toreview the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, the Group's financial control, internal control and risk
management systems, including but not limited to adequacy of
resources available to its respective functions, staff qualifications and
experience and training programmes; and

(d)  to consider and identify risks of the Group and consider effectiveness of
the Group’s decision making processes in crisis and emergency
situations and approve major decisions affecting the Group’s risk profile
or exposure.

Governance Report
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The written terms of reference describing the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee was prepared and adopted with reference to the CG Code and “A
Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

During the Reporting Period, no committee meeting was held due to its short
period after listing. From the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, one
Audit Committee meeting was held on 25 March 2020 to meet with external
auditors and to review annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management systems,
effectiveness of internal audit function, the auditor’s independence and
objectivity.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, there was no
material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that might cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Company's annual results for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established a nomination committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG Code.
The nomination committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director: Mr. Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam and Mr. YP
Chan. Mr. YP Chan was appointed the chairman of the nomination committee.
The primary functions of our nomination committee are (i) to review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to the
Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement our Company’s
corporate strategy; (ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified as potential
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; (iii) to assess the
independence of our independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of
Directors and succession planning of Directors, in particular our chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship based on a number of factors,
including expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of such individuals, business requirements of
the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. External
recruitment agency may also be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process when necessary.
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To facilitate sustainable and balanced development of the Company, the
Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Under
the Diversity Policy, the appointment and/or recommendation for
appointment will be based on objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity of the Board, including, among others, the candidates’
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will consider to
set measurable objectives to implement the Diversity Policy and review such
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriations and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving these objectives. Decisions of the
Nomination Committee are based on the merits and contribution of the
selected candidates. As at the date of this report, the Board characterised by
significant diversity, regardless in terms of age, gender, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The Nomination Committee has also
adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the
selection criteria and procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director.
The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include,
inter alia, his/her academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity and whether he/
she can contribute to the diversity of the Board as detailed in the Diversity
Policy. The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director is
summarised as follows:

— nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member of the
Nomination Committee or the Board;

—  evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all selection criteria
set out in the Nomination Policy;

—  performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making
recommendation for the Board's consideration and approval;

— in case of nomination of an independent non-executive Director,
assessing the candidate’s independence under the relevant Code
Provisions and the Listing Rules;

—  where nominating an independent non-executive Director for election
at general meetings, having due consideration of matters under Code
Provision A5.5;
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— in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing the
candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and

— convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or re-
appointment of the candidate as a Director.

During the Reporting Period, no committee meeting was held due to the
limited period after listing. From the Listing Date and up to the date of this
report, one Nomination Committee meeting was held on 25 March 2020 to,
amongst others, (i) review the structure, size, diversity and composition of the
Board; (ii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and (iii) review and recommend the continuing adoption of the
Diversity Policy.

Remuneration Committee

Our Company established a remuneration committee on 21 October 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.34 to 5.36 of the
GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The remuneration
committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director: Mr. LP Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms. Tsang. Ms. Tam was
appointed chairman of the remuneration committee. The primary functions of
our remuneration committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
the overall remuneration policy and the structure relating to all Directors and
senior management of our Group, review performance based remuneration
and ensure none of our Directors is in a position to determine his own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets to review the remuneration
policy and structure and determine the annual remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management and other related matters. The human
resources department is responsible for collection and administration of the
human resources data and proposing the remuneration structure and
remuneration packages of the individual executive Director and senior
management to the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The
Remuneration Committee shall consider and consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these proposals. During the Reporting Period, no committee
meeting was held due to the limited period after listing. From the Listing Date
and up to the date of this report, one Remuneration Committee meeting was
held on 25 March 2020 to review and recommend the remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management, to establish a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy for the remuneration of the
Directors, assess the performance of the executive Directors and approve the
terms of their respective service contracts.
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The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

¥ 48 1

Remuneration bands

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

/\ MM s /r/‘\— \

(1= ==) #&m

“E-AF T A=T—RLEFERA
ZENBREEASHMEIIMT

RE=E
RIE 5
Number of

individuals

AB

500,001 /& 7T Z 1,000,000 7 7T 1

Further particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 15 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 10 and Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties and
determining the relevant policies of the Company, which includes formulating
and reviewing the Group's policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management, reviewing and
monitoring the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, formulating, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct, guidelines and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors, and reviewing the Group's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report. The Board reviewed and
discussed the corporate governance policy of the Company and was satisfied
the effectiveness of its corporate governance policy.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board and the Directors

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and complying with other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor's Report” in pages 86 to 93.
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Senior Management

The senior management has provided the Board with sufficient explanation
and necessary information to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of financial and other information tabled before the Board for
approval.

Monthly updates have also been provided by the senior management to all
members of the Board to enable proper discharge of duties by the Board as a
whole as well as each member individually by giving them balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient detail.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group's internal control system to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system of the Group
aims to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn minimizes the
risks to which the Group is exposed. The system can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

Risk Management

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-
term development on the Group's business. Management is responsible for
establishing, implementing, reviewing and evaluating a sound and effective
internal control system underpinning the risk management framework. All
employees of the Group are committed to implement the risk management
framework into the daily operation. The system comprises the following
phases:

— ldentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

—  Analysis: Analyze the existing control, likelihood and consequence of
risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

— Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has identified the following risks and
implemented relevant risk mitigation plans, details of which are set out as
follows:

—  The sales and profitability of the Group's products are dependent on its
customers’ business performance. The Group's five largest customers
accounted for an aggregate of 75% and 66% of its revenue for the two
years ended 2019 and 2018, respectively, and if there is any decrease in
its business or if the Group fails to maintain its relationship with them or
any of them or other key customers, this could adversely affect its
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. To
diversify the business risk, the Group has been active in seeking new
markets and clients since 2019.

—  The Group's profitability may be adversely affected by the fluctuations
of raw material prices. The raw materials the Group uses in the
manufacturing process are primarily forged rings, steel balls and
spacers, of which forged rings accounted for most of the Group’'s total
purchases. For FY2019, the total purchases of forged rings accounted
for approximately 69.8% of the total purchases of raw materials for the
year. The Group's forged rings are primarily made from gear steel and
carbon round steel. Nearly all of the Group’s raw materials are sourced
from suppliers based in the PRC. There are many factors which can
cause fluctuation in the price of raw materials from time to time, in
particular the economic conditions in the PRC, supply and demand of
raw materials and international trade. To diversify the business risk, the
Group has been taking some proactive approaches to unexpected
change in raw material prices such as understanding the actual
production capacity and the historical record of price change.
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Internal Control

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of
the Group's business. The situation will be reviewed from time to time. The
Group has engaged an external consulting firm, Infinity Concept Ripple
Limited (the “Internal Control Adviser”), as the Group’s internal control
adviser to conduct independent internal control review for the Year.

Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under a rotation
basis. The scope of review was previously determined and approved by the
Board. The Internal Control Adviser has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee and management. The Board and Audit
Committee were of the view that there was no material deficiency in the
internal control system . All recommendations from the Internal Control
Adviser are properly followed by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

Handling And Dissemination Of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of insider information. The
Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in the securities of the
Company by the directors in accordance with Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially constitute
inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board
and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and
other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules will be announced on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
the Group's annual audit services and audit services for the subsidiaries of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to HK$1,035,000,
and those in relation to non-audit service was HK$170,000.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert, who is an employee
of the Company, as its Company Secretary. He is a member of CPA Australia.
He confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 December 2019. The biography of Mr. Chan Ho
Chee Gilbert is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this report.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights, separate
resolutions on each and every substantial issue can be considered and
proposed to be passed by shareholders at the shareholders’ meetings
including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward at a
shareholders” meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
and the poll voting results will be posted on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s website after the relevant shareholders’
meeting.

(@) Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary

general meeting (“EGM”)

Shareholder(s) holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition for a
EGM of not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the Company may, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, require the
Directors to call an EGM for the transaction of businesses specified in
the requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to requisitionist(s) by the Company.

(b) Procedures for Putting forward Proposals at General

Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of association,
shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may
convene an EGM in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders
to convene an EGM” set out above.
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Procedures for shareholders to send enquires to the board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board and/
or the Company Secretary by addressing them to the principle place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 1226B, 12/F Star House
No. 3 Salisbury Road Kowloon Hong Kong by post for the attention of
the Board and/or the Company Secretary.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company has adopted a shareholder communication policy with
the objective of providing the shareholders of the Company with
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an
informed manner.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include
answering questions through the AGM, the publication of annual,
interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars, the
Company'’s website at www.blg.hk and meetings with investors and
shareholders. News updates of the Group's business are also available
on the Company’s website.

Share registration matters shall be handled by the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Center,
183 Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the amended CG Code, the Company should have a dividend
policy and disclose such policy in its annual report. The Company has adopted
a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”’), and the summary of which is set
out below:

(@

54

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the Group's financial conditions;

the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

the Group’s cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

the Group's retained earnings and distributable reserves;

the Group's liquidity position;
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general economic conditions, future prospects of the Group and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

(b)  The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Articles of Association of the Company.

() The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the Shareholders’
interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable Dividend
Policy.

Constitutional Documents
There has been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board

CHAN Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Throughout this report, the following terms, except where the context
otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

Group

ESG

Appendix 20 or ESG

Reporting Guide

GEM

Hong Kong

PRC

KPIs

Listing Rules

Stock Exchange

OVERVIEW

)

Purpose

refers to Best Linking Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries

Environmental, social and governance
refers to the Appendix 20 — Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of

the Listing Rules

GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China,
including Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and
the New Territories

The People’s Republic of China

Key Performance Indicators

The Rules Governing the Listing of Equity
Securities on the GEM of the Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Best Linking Group Holdings Limited, together with its subsidiaries,
successfully listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 15 November 2019. In accordance with the requirements of
Stock Exchange, listed companies are required to provide an

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (‘ESG Report”). This is
the first ESG Report since the listing which mainly introduces the
Group’s vision, policies and measures by establishing the key

performance indicators ("KPIs"), and reports its performance regarding

environmental and social issues for internal assessment and

management control, and communicating to the internal and external

stakeholders.
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Scope of Report

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing of slewing rings,
which are rotational-rolling element bearing used in large sized
machinery and equipment, such as construction machinery and
equipment, wind turbines, robotics and military equipment. We
produce our products on an Original Design Manufacturer, Original
Equipment Manufacturer and Original Brand Manufacturer basis from
our manufacturing facility in Dongguan, the PRC and we are compliant
with the Japanese Industrial Standards and ISO 9001:2015 quality
standards. The products are sold both in the PRC and overseas to
general wholesalers and distributors and to leading overseas-mostly
Japanese and local equipment manufacturers. This ESG report covers
the operations and activities of our Dongguan factory and the Hong
Kong administrative office.

Basis of Preparation

This is our first ESG Report since our listing on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange and is in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide (the "ESG
Reporting Guide”) outlined in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
and Guidance Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. The content of this report includes two main subject areas, as
outlined and required by the ESG Reporting Guide, namely Area A —
Environmental and Area B — Social and further includes the disclosure
of climate-change related issues, which have or may impact our Group.

This ESG Report, which has been reviewed and approved by the Board,
both reviews and reports the core business operations and activities of
the Group and follows the principles of materiality, quantification,
balance and consistency to disclose relevant statistics and information.

Reporting Period
This report is for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

Corporate Goals and Visions

The Group's vision is to be a leading manufacturer on a sustainable
basis of high-quality slewing rings in both the PRC and worldwide. We
are committed to providing these products with a reasonable return on
investments to our shareholders, whilst being a socially and
environmentally responsible company and providing a safe, healthy
and pleasant working environment to our employees.
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(VI) ESG Management

Our ESG strategies, management policy and approach are based on
compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the
principle of sustainability and opinions from our key stakeholders. The
Group's visions and goals, and the ESG management policy and
approach can be summarized in the following statements.

1. The Group is committed to be successful in undertaking its
business, whilst providing strong returns to our investors and
supporters, a healthy and safe working environment to our
employees and helping to provide sustainable developments for
the local communities and the Group.

2. The Board from time to time approves and updates strategies
and policies which are incorporated with the related
environmental and social issues stated in the ESG Reporting
Guide. The Board has assigned each department to implement
ESG policies in accordance with the respective operations and
activities. Through their normal and routine channels, all
departments report directly to the Group's Chief Executive Officer
("CEO"), who has the overall responsibility to ensure that the
Board's approved strategies and policies are implemented. The
departments are responsible for exploring and developing KPIs,
where appropriate and necessary, in accordance with the Group's
policies and goals.

3. [t is the duty of the Group’s CEO, Chief Operating Officer ("COQ")
and the Management Team to examine and address all the
environmental and social issues detailed in the aspects and areas
in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Overall, the Group takes an active role in ensuring sustainable and
environmentally friendly production and operations by employing
various measures, which are compliant with relevant laws, operating
practices and standards. The Group continues to uphold our established
environmental protection and management system. The adoption and
application of the Quality Management System (ISO 9001:2015), which
the Group has certified since 2008, has proven to be effective in ESG
management.
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STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND
MATERIALITY

The Group maintains regular contact with the internal and external
stakeholders to gauge their views and opinions regarding the Group's
operations and performance. After collecting the views and opinions, the CEO
and/or COO will carry out materiality assessments internally with the related
managers and externally with related stakeholders through various means of
communication, such as liaison groups, panel discussions, workshops, on-site
visits, company websites, emails and direct enquiry phones, etc. For 2019, the
Group and the stakeholders have identified the following material areas and
aspects:

Environmental practices and their performance;

Commitments to employees;

Recruiting, engaging and retaining talents;

Commitments to customers;

Building trusts through quality and reliability of services and products
customers;

Protecting customers privacy;
Anti-corruption prevention; and

Community support and contribution.
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Through the Group's established management structure, process, policies and
guidelines as aforementioned and described, the above ESG material areas
and aspects have been strictly managed and monitored and herein are
summarized below:

A. Environmental Areas and Aspects
1.1 Environmental Areas Overview
As the Group understands it obligations, we have implemented a
company-wide “Environmental Protection and Sustainability
Policy and Procedures” which aims to achieve a balance between
undertaking business, maximize returns to our shareholders,
ensuring our operations and activities minimise any adverse
impacts on the environment, and being energy, water and
resource usage efficient.

Our "Environmental Protection and Sustainability Policy and
Procedures” is summarised below:

Purpose

To establish and maintain policies and procedures to identify,
evaluate and determine the significance of environmental
aspects and impacts by and on the company and ensuring
compliance with all relevant national and local environmental
laws and regulations including but not limited to:

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FREE A R I HN
BIRIBIREE);

Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment (FF

ZEARKNBRRZEFNER)

Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (FRZE AR
MBKIFRFEE);

Atmospheric Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (FR Z&
ARKEMBEARRIGTEYEE);

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution
from Environmental Noise (R A R KA F IR R 2T
APRE);

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (F 2 A R HF[E
.ELFE'P%/? niﬁii[gﬁ/m/jé

AEEEBLMTZARNERRE  2F
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Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection (G27% 18 B IR IR IREE B IEH);
and

Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC (R 2 AR
HABEEREEREE).

Procedure

0]

(i)

(iff)

The Management Team shall identify and evaluate the
environmental aspects for all work activities that are most
likely to give rise to significant environmental impacts.

The Management Team shall brainstorm internally and
externally with other related parties and classify all the
relevant work activities under normal, unusual and

emergency situation as follows:

Normal is defined as a routine activity or work that is
carried out daily and is part of a process;

Unusual refers to non-routine work that occurs
under unexpected circumstances; and

Emergency refers to an occurrence of an event that

will cause a drastic impact or severity to the

environment and immediate action has to be taken.

For example: major leakage and spillage, fire, etc.
When identifying the environmental aspects, all activities
likely to cause environmental impact or improve general
sustainability are considered including but not limited to
the following:

Gas emissions;

Water discharge;

Waste disposal;

Land contamination;

Sustainability and the efficient use of raw materials,

energy, water and other natural resources;

Other local environmental issues; and

National and local laws and regulations.
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1.2

(iv) At least once every year, the Management Team shall
review the environmental aspects. They shall also update
regularly based on new laws and regulations,
organizational work activities and processes or production
systems or equipment, and also based on updated
knowledge obtained through incidents/accidents,
organizational or other requirements.

(v)  For each environmental aspect, the Management Team
shall identify and assess the environmental impacts, and
the following shall be considered:

Global warming;

Water pollution;

Air pollution;

Waste generation;

Land/soil contamination;
Noise pollution; and

Depletion of natural resources.

Environmental Aspects

The Group advocates the importance of sustainable development
in relation to our on-going business operations and activities. We
have employed various measures to ensure full compliance with
all relevant rules and regulations regarding emissions, effluent
water and solid waste discharge and to ensure minimal impact to
the environment. All of our employees are made aware of their
respective roles and responsibilities in conserving energy and
natural resources and we regularly assess new production
equipment and processes and maintain compliance with Quality
Management Systems such as ISO 9000:2015, to reduce pollution
and improve sustainability.

During the reporting period, the Group was not subject to any
confirmed cases for breaching environmental legislation in
relation to emissions and waste discharge or other environmental
issues that could have an adverse impact on the local
environment.

1.2
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Emissions and Wastes
Indirect Emissions — Greenhouse Gas ("GHG")

Indirect emission, mainly carbon dioxide (“CO2") through
the use of electricity for our production, remains to be the
main source of greenhouse gas emissions.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, electricity
consumption by our manufacturing facilities (and
accompanying offices and dormitory) amounted to
1,129,878 kWh. Based on this, the Group's operations and
activities generated a total of 1,126.48 tonnes or about
13.91 tonnes per worker per year of indirect GHG of CO>
from the use of electricity. To reduce indirect GHG
emissions, we are formulating a Climate Change Strategy
that will continue to improve our energy saving practices
including strictly controlling the electricity consumption of
our production facility and to invest in new production
equipment and processes. We target to lower the indirect
GHG emission per employee per year within 5% through
the reduction of electricity consumption per employee

Direct emissions

During the reporting period, we directly produced non-
hazardous GHG of CO: and hazardous sulphur oxides
("SOx") and nitrogen oxides (“NOx") gas emissions, from the
uses of fossil fuels including diesel fuel and liquefied
petroleum gas for forklift cars, machine tool cooling and
wielding which are stated as follows:

(i) Sulphur oxides — 106.08 kg

(i) Nitrogen oxides — 21,389.38 kg

(i)  Carbon dioxide — 13,978.38 kg
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Since we have sub-contracted all of our logistic needs to
external transport operators and have utilized electrically
driven production equipment, the uses of fossil fuels and
its resultant direct hazardous gas emissions have not
increased significantly. We have been reviewing and
planning a gradual reduction of fossil fuels in order to
reduce hazardous gas emissions by substituting electricity
or other forms of sustainable energy. For the coming year,
we target to reduce direct emissions especially those
hazardous SOx and NOx by at least 10%.

Water Pollution and Discharge

Cooling water used in our production process is the main
source of the Group's wastewater. We have adopted a
closed circulating water recycling system, so most of the
cooling water will be reused with minimal wastage.
However, under PRC laws and regulations, all excess
wastewater generation during our production process is
required to be handled by a licensed wastewater treatment
and disposal specialist. Water is also used for general living
purposes in employees’ dormitories, canteens and offices,
and will be discharged through the public sewage system.
The Group therefore does not hold any polluted water
discharge data.

Noise Pollution Emission

The Group does not generate any noise pollution to the
surrounding neighbors as our business operations and
activities are conducted inside our factory and offices, with
a tailor-made building structure. Within our factory
operation, in certain parts of the operation, noise is
generated, but the extent is far below national and industry
standard limits. To be cautious and to protect our workers,
it is compulsory that protective equipment is worn at all
times during production activities.

Light Emission
Our business operations and activities do not generate any
light pollution.
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Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Wastes

The Group has developed a natural and pollution-free
philosophy in its business where possible and has adopted
the 3-R principle — to reduce, reuse and recycle. All
employees are constantly reminded to adopt the 3-R
principle in their handling and use of resources.
Consideration is given to recycle and reuse in the various
processes and stages of production. Procedures are in
place for properly sorting out and storing the unused
materials for resale or reuse. For example, in respect of the
scrap metal produced from our production process, firstly,
through new and improved production processes, we
reduced the amount of scrap material produced, and
secondly, scraps are not wasted and are recycled by being
sold to approved scrap metal recyclers on a regular basis.

The amount of hazardous wastes generated from our
manufacturing operations is insignificant and poses no
material impact to the environment.

Non-hazardous wastes are generated from both
production operations and non-production operations.
Non-hazardous wastes generated from the production
processes are mainly packaging materials — namely affixed
labels, plastic film and kraft paper. An insignificant amount
of non-hazardous materials is also generated from non-
production areas, such as supporting offices, dormitories
and canteens. All such wastes are collected and disposed
of by external waste collectors.

Mitigation Measures and Reduction Initiatives

As analyzed above, the Group does not generate much
hazardous and non-hazardous emissions and discharges.
However, as a responsible corporation, we are conscious of
the effects our operations and activities may have on the
environment and constantly work on maximizing energy
efficiency and minimizing emissions, wastes generation,
disposal and discharges. We fully comply with all applicable
environmental laws, rules and regulations and industrial
standards in the markets we operate in. We comply with
Quality Management Systems such as ISO 9000:2015, to
reduce pollution and improve sustainability.
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To combat global warming and to reduce the generation
of GHG emissions and pollutants, we target to reduce our
electricity consumption, and have introduced measures to
achieve it. For example, we have instructed our staff and
workers to turn off electricity when our factory and office
equipment are not in use, to use natural ventilation to
replace air-conditioning in allowable conditions, and not to
set all air-conditioners’ temperature setting to lower than
25°C under normal conditions. The Group has also invested
in energy saving tools and equipment such as energy-
saving copiers and computers installed LED lights,
encouraged employees to use teleconferencing to reduce
their travels and to use public transport whenever possible.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
violation related to hazardous or non-hazardous air
emissions and wastes disposal, polluted water discharges
and we are determined to take all necessary measures to
achieve the same results for the coming years.

Use of Resources

As an industrial operation, we consume electricity, water,
printing paper and ink, packaging materials, and steel. We
promote the company-wide goal to saving resources and
have implemented various measures to improve our
resource saving performance, to minimize the impact to
the environment and achieve operational optimization
while complying with the relevant national and local laws
and regulations. We have approved and implemented clear
environmental policies and measures with the target to
have an efficient use of resources for production facilities
and processes, office administration, and the general use of
our employees without causing pollution whilst saving
resources. Our use of electricity, fossil fuels, water, printing
papers and steel for 2019 were recorded as per below:
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(i)

Electricity & Fuel Consumption

Electricity is the only source of energy for our
industrial production and our offices and dormitories
operations and activities and is supplied by the local
electricity grid. In 2019, our factory, offices and
dormitories together consumed 1,129,878 kWh or
13,949 kWh per worker per year.

The result showed that the overall electricity
consumption was 1.7% below 2019 target of
1,150,000 kWh. For the coming year, the Group
targets 1,200,000 kWh consumption or an increase of
6.2% in response to our increases in business
activities. However, the targeted average 13,793 kWh
per worker per year will be 1.12% lower than 2019
result.

The Group recognises that investing in energy
efficiency initiatives helps us to minimise our
environmental impacts while also reducing costs.
Our production facilities and accompanying
dormitories are powered by a consistent and
sufficient supply of electricity, which is supplied by
the local electricity grid. To save energy, which also
saves costs, we have installed energy saving LED
lights and control meters and invested in the latest
energy efficient production equipment and
processes. The Group has promulgated rules and
encouraged staff and workers to use resources
efficiently and environmentally friendly including:

Lights and equipment must be turned off if
not in use;

Maintaining work environments at pre-
determined and energy efficient temperatures;
and
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Encouraging the use of natural ventilation
instead of air-conditioning whenever the
conditions allow.

For 2019, the Group also used fossil fuels, namely 63
cubic meters ("m3”) of gas and 3.747 tonnes of diesel,
mainly for forklifts, machine tools cooling and
wielding. For the coming years, we have already
planned to gradually replace fossil fuels by electricity
or other forms of sustainable energy in order to
reduce the generation of hazardous gases emissions
as explained previously.

Fresh Water Consumption and Sourcing

For water, the main consumption comes from the
production process in cooling hot metal. Water is
also used in the employee’ dormitory for their
personal use. Our factory, offices and dormitories all
use fresh water supplied from the cities’ central
water supply network and we do not have any
problem on sourcing of our water needs.

At all times we request the staff and workers to use
fresh water smartly and be responsible, as it is one of
the most precious natural resources. We utilize
internal water recycling systems where possible and
we monitor water usage patterns constantly via the
use of smart meters and our own inspection teams
who have been assigned to ensure there is no
unwarranted uses and waste.
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(iii)

For 2019, it consumed a total of 7,320 m® or 90.3 m?
per worker per year of fresh water for industrial
production and offices and dormitories daily usage
purposes. The result was 1% better than our 2019
target of 7,400 m?, but the average m?® per worker
per year was 6.2% higher than the 2019 target of 85
m?® because we had a reduced number of total
workers. For the coming year, we will continue to
mobilize our staff and workers to save fresh water
consumption with a target of 87.4 m?* per worker per
year, or 3.3% lower than in the currently achieved
figure.

Paper and Packaging Materials and Other Raw
Materials Consumption

We consider our use of packaging materials, namely
affixed labels, plastic film and kraft paper, to be a
material item and have established a KPIs to measure
and monitor this.

During the reporting period, we used a total of 2,818
kg of packaging materials. The amount of packaging
material used is largely dictated by our sales volume
and so we are unable to target any serious reduction
in packaging materials. We will continue to monitor
our usage and look at ways to introduce more
sustainable and environmentally friendly materials
where possible.

We consider our office paper use immaterial,
however, to save paper consumption, we have
implemented or in the process of implementing the
following measures in our offices:

Avoid unnecessary printing and print on both
sides;

Use recycled papers and reuse paper-made
products such as envelopes and folders;
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Replace the use of papers by sharing and
storing information and documents in
electronic formats; and

Adopt a company-wide cloud based working
environment including ERP system to reduce
the need for printed documentation.

As explained before, during our production process,
we use a lot of steel metal, and generate metal
scraps. The use of steel is in direct proportion to our
business turnover. The generation of metal scrap can
be reduced through new and improved production
processes and we have continuously monitored and
implemented these in trying to achieve such
reductions. At the same time, we do not waste any
scrap metal as they are stored in a designed place in
the factory and then sold to approved scrap metal
recyclers.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s business operations and activities do not
create significant environmental impact and hazards. As a
responsible corporation, we have implemented our
environmental protection policy and have complied with
all national and local environmental laws, rules and
regulations, and industry standards. We are committed to
conserving resources in order to reduce its impact on the
environment as well as saving operational costs. We
cooperate with the local government agencies and
support environmental organizations’ activities to build a
“green” society. The Group has also implemented green
purchasing practices and best practice technologies to
conserve natural resources where applicable.
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During the reporting period, fresh water, fossil fuels,
electricity and paper-based packaging materials for normal
production operation were the key elements which were
considered to have an impact on the environment. We
have continued to support all measures to reduce, reuse ,
recycle and replace as far as possible and practicable as laid
down in our Environmental Policy and Measures. The
Group did not receive any warning or complaint notice
from any governmental environmental agencies, clients or
business partners for the violation of any environmental
rules and regulations, the act of polluting the environment
or causing any environmental troubles. For the coming
year, we will continue to achieve zero complaints and no
pollution occurrences, and to explore new avenues and
means to accomplish our goals of conserving natural
resources and protecting the environment.

Climate Change

The Group understands that stakeholders expect us to be
managing and mitigating climate change risks in line with
local and global commitments and recommendations. We
recognise that the impacts of climate change are varied
and long-ranging and the risks identified could prevent us
from meeting our strategic objectives and could result in
adverse operational, compliance and financial impacts.
Thus, climate change risks are considered by our Board to
be material risks and oversight is given to the Audit and
Risk Committee who is developing an overarching Climate
Change Strategy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions with
policies and procedures to manage such potential risks
including:

Potential disruption to our operations due to
extreme weather events and changing weather
patterns;

Changing customer behaviours and requirements as
demand moves to other new machinery and
equipment such as wind turbines;
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Changes in cost and availability of raw materials
(carbon neutral steel etc.) and utilities such as
renewable electricity, water and gas and relevant
costs of securing and maintaining sufficient supply;

Changes to government policy, law and regulation
(including pricing carbon, renewable electricity
pricing etc.), which could result in increased
operational costs and potential for litigation; and

Failure to meet expectations of stakeholders.

Climate change is mainly caused by the release of CO: into
the atmosphere, which is directly and indirectly the result
of the use of fossil fuels for electricity generation and fuels
for transportation. As the world transitions to a lower-
carbon sustainable economy, there are inevitable areas
that our Group can contribute to this. After discussions
with our stakeholders, we have identified energy, water
and logistics as immediate areas that we can tackle to both
combat climate change and reduce potential costs in the
future.

Energy

During the reporting period, the Group generated direct
and indirect greenhouse gas — COz emissions, through
the uses of fossil fuels electricity. As explained previously,
we have implemented policies and procedures to reduce
the uses of fossil fuels as well as electricity across our
organization and we will continue to invest in new more
energy efficient manufacturing equipment and processes
in the near future. We are currently investigating the cost-
benefit of partial self-generation of renewable energy via
solar panel installation etc.

Water

Water is used both in our production process and by our
employees in their dormitories. The Group has taken
measures to encourage employees to more efficiently use
water in order to reduce its consumption. We already utilise
recycled water treatment systems in our production
facilities so as to minimise water wastage.
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Logistics

In line with our Climate Change Strategy, the carbon
footprint and sustainability of suppliers is an important
consideration and we are actively seeking logistics partners
that utilize electric vehicles or close equivalents to minimize
their own carbon footprint where possible.

For the reporting period, the Group's business operations
and activities, except for the above three aspects, did not
lead to any events or issues that might impact the climate
or result in the change of the climate significantly. The
Group also has already taken measures to lower indirect
CO2 emissions and fresh water consumption for the
coming year.

Social Aspects

Social Areas Overview

The Group acts in an honest and transparent principle and aims
to support the building of a harmonious society and a mutually
beneficial relationship with our stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers, professional services providers,
local communities as well as the governing authorities. During
the formulation and implementation of our ESG strategies,
policies, rules and regulations, we incorporate our long and short-
term goals with consideration for our stakeholders and society.
We believe that our modest acts will ultimately benefit the
stakeholders and general society.

1.1

1.2

Employment and Labour Practices Aspects

B1:

Employment

The Group strives to create a workplace which makes each
employee feel valued and inspire to do their best and at all
times regard our employees as valuable assets for our
sustained development and growth. It is our policy to
strictly comply with all the relevant statutory requirements
in the Labour Law of the PRC (FF Z& A R H AN 5 8)%)
and other applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, and
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for the
employment and the relevant policies, which are clearly
laid out in our Employee Handbook, including but not
limited to, appointment, termination, working hours, rest
days, statutory holidays, remunerations, various
compensations, dismissals, health, general safety and other
benefits and welfares.
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The Group is committed to providing employees with
equal opportunity on recruitment, promotion,
compensation and benefits as specified in the relevant
statutory provisions. To ensure a fair and rational human
resources structure, the Group has established job
qualifications and requirements specific to each job
position in the local offices. They are taken as criteria for
recruitment, promotion and transfer. The recruitment and
decision-making processes involve both the relevant
operational levels and the Human Resources Department.
All employees enter into proper and standard employment
contracts between the Group as required by law.
Employment of child labor and forced labor is expressly
and strictly forbidden.

In accordance with the requirements of the national laws
of the PRC such as Social Insurance Law of the PRC (H 2

HABE L EREIK), the Administrative Regulations
on Housmg Provident Funds (£ 5 A & & 12 %) and
local Employment and Labour Law of Hong Kong, the
Group provides and maintains statutory benefits to all
qualified staff, including but not limited to mandatory
provident fund, social security insurance, medical
insurance, work injury insurance and compensation and
statutory holidays.

Employees’ remunerations are determined with reference
to the prevailing market level in line with their competency,
qualifications, experience and job position. Discretionary
bonuses of such amounts and at such intervals for internal
employees will be rewarded at the discretion of the top
management with consideration on performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has a
stable workforce at a total number of 81 full-time
employees with a low employee turnover. All of our
employees were on full time basis comprising 69 male
(85%) and 12 female (15%) employees. Of this, 13 were
managerial of which 8 were male and 5 were female, 3
were operational staff of which 1 was male and 2 were
female, and 65 were general production staff of which 60
were male and 5 were female. The high proportion of
general staff of which 92% are male is consistent with the
type of heavy work required in the general production and
warehouse logistics and lifting process. Overall, 62 of our
employees were under the age of 30 (77%), 13 were
between 31 and 40 years of age (16%), and 6 were in the
41-50 year old age group (7%). The low employee turnover
rate has evidenced that our employment policies and
measures are fair and reasonable, and no labor disputes
were recorded both internally and externally.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare. We are confident that the Group will achieve the
same result for the coming year.
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B2:

Health and Safety

Given the nature of the Group's business in metal products
related manufacturing, and being a responsible employer,
the Group considers the health and safety of employees as
our primary concern. We are focused on personal
accountability, proactive hazard and incident management,
risk mitigation and creating a positive health and wellbeing
culture.

The Work Safety Law of the PRC (2 AR EMBH L 2 £
EE)%) is the overriding law regulating health and safety of
employees in our operations. However, leadership and
culture are critical to embedding the importance of health
and safety throughout our Group. Department managers
and all employees are required to complete training to
understand the practicalities of health and safety laws and
regulations, and how they apply to our business particularly
manufacturing practices. Specific safety rules, instructions
and procedures for the safe operation of plants and
employee safety are detailed in our Employee Handbook.
The Safety Officer is responsible for the work safety and has
composed a Safety Manual, which contains the relevant
regulations and standards and developed processes
applicable to our manufacturing operations.

All employees are required to strictly observe the health
and safety policies, instructions and guidance and to follow
the same at work and to place safety as their priority over
production. Managers and supervisors are charged with
the responsibility of ensuring that safety policies, rules and
practices are observed. The Group has also taken out the
required insurance for all employees in accordance with
the statutory requirements of their employment locations.
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The Group has equipped its production facilities with all
the required safety equipment and facilities. We regularly
purchase and ensure that all employees, at all times, have
available and wear their labour safety equipment, such as
safety helmets, gloves, and goggles. We also regularly
conduct safety inspections and tests across all levels of our
production facilities and manufacturing process. For
example, we annually carry out the inspection and testing
of heavy machineries to ensure we have satisfied our duty
to comply with provisions concerning the Safety
Supervision of Lifting Machinery (& E #4122 2 BE 537 7E).
We also have been accredited with the Work Safety
Standardization Certificate (effective until September 2020)
in compliance with the recommendations or proposals
issued by the Dongguan City Safety Production Supervision
Administration Changping Branch (Rem L& £EEE
EIERE 5 D) relating to work and production safety.

In-house rules require all injuries or accidents to be
promptly reported and properly dealt with in accordance
with the national or local laws. In parallel, remedial or
compensatory actions arising from safety and health issues
or work injuries are required to be taken immediately
where necessary as stipulated by the in-house rules. The
Group did not have any record on any claim disputes on
compensation or work-related injury investigation by the
government officials in the reporting period.

During the reporting period, there was only 1 light injury
case of a factory worker catching his/her arm under a box
and the injury was well taken care immediately after the
occurrence with no disputes or claims arising thereafter.
Furthermore, there were no other accidents or incidents of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards which could have
significant impact on the production operations or
businesses of the Group. Our low injury rate shows that our
safety and health policies and measures including training
are effectively implemented and adhered to. The Group
targets to achieve a zero injury and causality result for the
coming year.
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Development and Training

As a professional organisation, we provide our employees
with numerous career development and job-specific
training opportunities covering a range of areas, including
but not limited to professional development, trade skills,
quality improvement, customer service, leadership and
safety. Employees are encouraged to engage in self-
development by taking external training programs and
seminars.

During the reporting period, a total of 81 employees
representing 1
internal training for three sessions, which aggregated a

00% of our total work force undertook

total of 729 training hours for health and safety, operating
rules and 5S training. Of those employees, 69 were male
(85%) and 12 (15%) were female employees of all levels.
Overall, management grade level employees undertook a
combined 117 hours (16%) of training, operational staff
undertook a combined 27 hours (4%) of training, and
general staff undertook 585 hours (80%) of training. We
target a minimum of 4 training sessions per employee for
the coming year.

Labor Standards

The Group adopts the statutory requirements and
standards applicable to our business operations to be our
minimum labor standard on labor protection and welfare.
The Group is committed to ensuring its full compliance
and all management and supervisory levels are made
aware of this.

Banning the employment of child labor, illegal workers and
forced labor is achieved through the recruitment and
employment process at source by the Human Resources
Department. All job applicants are required to submit their
credentials such as academic qualifications, professional
skill certificates, references and identity card for verification
and record purpose during recruitment. Such information
is kept as the employee’s personal file for record and future
reference and government inspection.
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B5:

HtERERRE

The Head of the Human Resources Department and the
heads of relevant department are charged with the duty of
overseeing its compliance and are also responsible for
ensuring that all labor protection and welfare obligations
are complied with and any breaches of statutory
compliance are brought to the attention of the senior
levels.

During the reporting period, no case of any child labor or
forced labor employment was reported or detected.

Supply Chain Management

The Procurement Department is responsible for the
procurement of raw materials. It also manages the
procurement price, cost and supplier based on the
company’s development plan and sales targets, and to
keep enough inventories to meet customer requirements.

The principal raw materials that we use for the
manufacturing of slewing rings include forged rings
(primarily made from gear steel and carbon round steel),
steel balls and spacers. Our suppliers of raw materials are
located in the PRC. We do not enter into any long-term
supply agreements with our suppliers. We procure our raw
materials by individual sales orders on a case by case basis
and the selling price and quantity of the raw materials
required is negotiated on a case by case basis as and when
we require the materials to meet a new sales order.

The Group has, in place, a very detailed supply and
purchase management system adopting different approval
authorities at different hierarchy levels of the Management
Team depending upon the department and the types of
purchase transactions they enter into.

In general, the Purchase Manager, Finance Director, COO
and CEO form the execution and supervision purchase
chain at different monetary levels. Each level is accountable
to the one above on their monetary limits they are
authorized to purchase. Purchasers are required not to
place an order when the authorization cannot meet its
designated level. The approving level is required to ensure
that requests for purchase are in order before authorizing.
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All purchases of the Group in principle follow the
established prevalent trade practice and industry norms
under which 3 tenderers (where possible) or more will be
invited for tender depending on various factors like
contract value, amount involved, any other technicality and
time constraints. All purchase transactions are subject to
the scrutiny of internal hierarchy supervisions at different
levels depending on its contract value and significance and
to the overall scrutiny of external independent audit
checks. All capital expenditure purchases have to be
authorized and approved by the headquarters.

Specificity, timeliness, quantity and quality are the major
selection criteria suppliers. Sustainability and our carbon
footprint are also considered in our selection process.
Technical standards agreements covering chemical
composition, mechanical performance etc. are typically
entered into with suppliers of raw materials particularly
forged rings.

During the reporting period, owing to the special nature of
our raw materials, we only sourced raw materials from 15
local suppliers and no raw materials were sourced from
overseas.

Product Responsibilities

Product Quality

We are focused on high quality assurance as we believe
that the quality and consistency of our products are critical
to our ability to retain our customers and to expand market
share. We not only maintain I1SO 9001:2008/15 quality
management system(s) which the group has been certified
since 2008, but also comply with some of the highest
international standards as required by our Japanese
customers including the JIS, JB and JB/T standards in Japan.
To maintain our competitive edge and continuously
improve quality and sustainability, we are also committed
to investing in increasing our production capabilities with
new high-end plants and equipment and automation
technologies. For example, new machines are equipped
with thermostats which ensure the temperature is
consistent and help to reduce cracking of slewing rings
and product failure rate. By working closely with our
customers, we are able to keep abreast of the latest
product development and knowledge.
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The major parts of our quality assurance procedures and
processes are:

Our quality assurance team inspects the incoming
materials to ensure they are in line with our purchase
order, such as the quantity, specifications, serial
number, material, dimension and the physical
condition. We will also check the test report provided
by our supplier. For forged rings, we also check the
serial number marked or imprinted on them to
ensure that the material supplied is correct.

On a sampling basis, we will take measurement of,
and conduct visual inspection on our forged rings to
see if there are any defects on their surface.

On a sampling basis, we arrange for independent
services providers to check the chemical
composition of our incoming raw materials. This is to
make sure that the chemical composition conforms
to our specifications set forth in our purchase order.

For the steel balls, our inspection team regularly
inspects their sphericity and hardness on a sampling
basis. We return substandard raw materials to
suppliers if they do not pass our inspection.

Upon completion of the manufacturing process, our
quality assurance department will conduct final
quality assurance test on the products, which
includes measuring the assembly clearance and
whether the outer and inner rings can rotate
smoothly.

In order to ensure that our heat treatment is carried
out properly and up to the standard required by our
customers, we take samples from the finished
products for tests and dissect them to perform
various tests on their precision and accuracy and
other quality requirements.

We conduct quality testing on all finished products
to ensure that they comply with our customers’
specifications.
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Our general warranty policy is to provide a warranty period
of 1,500-3,000 hours of operation or one to two years
(whichever occurs first), and we will not be liable if the
warranty period has expired. If, during the warranty period,
our products are found substandard, we will be liable to
indemnify our customers of their acquisition costs of the
product, and in some instances of the repairing costs and
other disbursements.

During the reporting period, heat treatment for the entire
work-in-progress was conducted with the average passing
rate being approximately 99%. Due to the very specific
nature of our products and the requirements for near
perfect quality assurance, we had 0% return on goods sold
and did not encounter any material warranty claim. The
only complaints received were due to a packaging issue
with the lining of some boxes and such complaints were
dealt with efficiently without affecting our future business
relationship. In the coming year, we will continue to
stringently control and improve our product quality even
further with a target of zero complaints.

Handling of Complaints

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that all
customer complaints or concerns are addressed to at the
appropriate levels in a timely manner. In our sales contracts,
there are clear clauses specifying our responsibilities under
quality issues. The Sales Department is responsible for
handling all sales complaint issues. Standing arrangements
are also in place for an independent third party to
adjudicate on any unresolved disputes between the Sales
Department and the client. Consequential remedial actions
will be taken promptly and in a responsible manner. During
the reporting period, we only received two complaints
regarding some packaging lining issues and this was dealt
with efficiently, so as not to affect our business relations.
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Intellectual Property Right

The Group, up to the end of the reporting period, has built
up a portfolio of intellectual property rights including 13
patents registered in the PRC that are material to our
business as well as 14 trademarks registered in the PRC
and/or Hong Kong.

We primarily rely on trademark and intellectual property
laws, and confidentiality agreements with our senior
employees, to protect all intellectual property relating to
the Group and operations. We purchase and utilise fully
licensed software in our operations.

For the reporting period, the Group did not have any of any
infringement of its or any other intellectual property rights
including which had or could have a material adverse
effect on our business, and there were no legal
proceedings against the Group. We will continue to
maintain similar results on intellectual property rights in
the coming years ahead.

Privacy

The Group’s main business and operation has generated a
substantial volume of private, confidential and sensitive
information of customers, suppliers, business partners
including the operation status and financial positions,
commercial terms of contracts, general background
information, patented production technology, etc. These
types of information are extremely sensitive and important,
and by law, have to be cautiously safeguarded and
protected. The Group fully understands its obligation and
has taken measures to ensure strictest protection of the
information against unauthorized access, use and
disclosure through a variety of security technologies and
procedures.

The Group fully abides by all relevant laws and regulations
regarding privacy and utilization of data. Our employees
have been trained to handle the sensitive information
during the course of business with due care. The Group has
incorporated the Confidential Clause into the Staff
Handbook and Employment Contract, under which all
employees are obligated to follow.
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During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to advertising, labelling and privacy matters. We
also target the same result for the coming years ahead.

Anti-corruption

The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty,
integrity and fairness in our business operations and has
therefore put in place an anti-corruption policy. All
employees are required to declare any conflicts of interests
in the execution of their roles and duties. Through the
establishment of these rules and regulations, the Group
encourages all employees to discharge their duties with
integrity and comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.

Transactions in large monetary sums are processed
through bank transactions which require authorized
signatories of the appropriate levels depending on the
amount involved. Checks and balances have been installed
in the Group for money transaction activities and are
considered effective and adequate.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded no
bribery nor corruption charges and is confident to achieve
a similar result for the coming years ahead.

Community Investment

The Group fully understands our social obligations and the
need for re-contributing to the society. Through the day-
to-day contact with various local government officials and
industry leaders, the Group continues to explore and
examine what and how the Group can contribute more
and in a better way to the local community and society.
The Group encourages and supports our staff and workers
to participate in voluntary social welfare works such as to
give paid leave for such activities. During the reporting
period, the Group contributed small amounts to local
charities and organizations.
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To the Shareholders of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 94 to
170, which comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BREETEE®)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is the provision for slow moving  F{EET T # AN ER BT ETEASHETEE

inventories.

Key Audit Matter

RRELEE

B -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN ES AR ERREN SR

Provision for slow moving inventories

FETERE

Refer to notes 2.19 and 4(a) to the consolidated financial
statements for the disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.

BRI ETEOR - A R EE - F2HERE M B mRMTE
2.19 K 4(a) °

As at 31 December 2019, carrying amount of Group's inventories
amounted to HK$23,194,000 after considering the provision for
slow moving inventories of HK$311,000. Inventories, comprising
slewing rings, are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value in the consolidated balance sheet.
RZE-NAF+ZA=+—8 Rt RFHEFERE#E 311,000
BILR - AEERERREER2319400087T - FE (B
PEXA)RFEEBEBBRABREAZ5R)FE 2 RIEE
FHE -

Management determined the provision for slow moving
inventories at each period end. The identification of slow moving
inventories requires the use of significant judgements and key
assumptions which take into consideration historical sales patterns,
ageing and expectations for future sales orders. Such judgement is
subject to uncertainties as a result of future changes in market
trends and customer demands.
EEENSPRETFHEFERE - FHFENSENTEE
REARHE M ERRER - MEDAMBEHEE - KKK
HARKHEFTENTEH - ZFHEXTHBERETFERH
RNREE BN TEERARTE -
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Our procedures in relation to management's provision for slow
moving inventories include:

BMBREERHTFERBNREF BT

—  We understood, evaluated and tested key controls by
which management identified slow moving inventories
and determined the inventory provisions;

BFITEE - FHEMAHEEERRISHTFEREE
TFER ARG B 1E i

—  We tested the accuracy of the inventory ageing report
on a sample basis by tracing to purchase invoices and
delivery documents;

BB BEMRBER RN MR T ER
B EERE

—  We enquired with management about their business
plans and reviewed historical sales patterns to
understand and assess the expected life cycle of
inventories;
BAREEEEARSNEBHRELEERBEEH
EEANNT @M TG ERFERER

—  For slow moving inventories where management
considered provision is not required as they are
supported by sales over the past years, we analysed, on a
sample basis, the reasonableness of management’s
forecast by comparing the expected sales volume and
net realisable value to historical sales patterns and
expectation of future sales orders;
RERERSBAEHBEENFHEFE(ARNEH
FEREZFREEXR)ME  RABBHLEKRE
HitH 8 N A] # IR R E B A HE R MR RIEERT
BERTER - MRS MEREEANSIEREE



Independent Auditor's Report
Y& 7 1% 21 EM ¥R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FREFTEE @
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRENSEE BB NAEERRETSE
Provision for slow moving inventories (Continued)
R TFERE(E)
We focused on this area because inventories is a material balance  —  For slow moving inventories where management
and judgements are involved in estimating the provision for considered provision is not required as they are
inventories, which might have a significant financial impact on supported by secured sales orders, we tested, on a
the consolidated financial statements. sample basis, the sales orders received from customers
REEZEIHEE TR EE AR T FERESTY and net realisable value of products by comparing the
NEE KRG N HE - Hr iR e s RERER estimated selling price and sales quantity of individual
B - products with the corresponding post year-end sales

data; and
HEEBRABAELBENFIETE(BNEH
FEHAERHEEELRH)IME BMBEBLER
BERIERNGEAEEREEEMERFREHER
B BB ARREPEENIERERAZRF
B &

—  We tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of inventory provision.

BARAF ER BT ENEMERE -

Based on our work performed, we considered the judgements
and assumptions made by management in relation to their
assessment for provision of slow moving inventories to be
supportable.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor's Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chan Hin Gay Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AR ERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 Bl 2 = E— L F+ = =+—HIFFZ

2019 2018
—E-AF —E—)\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHTT
Revenue & 5 67,509 46,267
Cost of sales SHE A 6 (36,042) (24,559)
Gross profit EX 31,467 21,708
Other income EHAB YA 8 401 942
Other gains/(losses), net Ezs(F18) 358 9 208 (151)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDHFY 6 (985) (675)
Administrative expenses THHEX 6 (20,409) (9,268)
Operating profit BRI 10,682 12,556
Finance income BhE A 11 9 41
Finance cost BE A 11 (134) (130)
Finance cost, net BhE R A F R (125) (89)
Profit before income tax RRETSBL AR R 10,557 12,467
Income tax expense FIS Bl 12 (3,594) (2,732)
Profit for the year attributable to owners RREHEE AL
of the Company FRE 6,963 9,735
Other comprehensive income Ha 2wk
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss Al EF D EEERN
A
Currency translation differences BEHmE LR 23 (691) (1,655)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAEHEKRBE 6,272 8,080
Earnings per share for profit attributable to RAEERREE AENL
equity holders of the Company for the year FNEFE TR T
Basic and diluted earnings per share BRERREE R
(HK cents per share) (=B 13 2.2 3.2

o)

2 [ W 2 R S B A 5 — DB AR -

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read L iit4R
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

~

AR E

BEX

<N “ N

Asat 31 December 2019 R = FE—NF+-H=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS'000
TFHExT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEKRE 15 7,425 9,328
Intangible asset EEEE 16 75 -
Prepayments and deposits ENRIERES 19 2,235 18
Deferred tax assets BRI A & 28 64 11
9,799 9,357
Current assets REEE
Inventories Ny 20 23,194 27,573
Trade receivables H 5 WA 18 16,884 3,821
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BAFRIE - HZE Rk
H b fE YRR 19 2,129 2210
Cash and cash equivalents RERBLEFEY 21 49,040 6,562
91,247 40,166
Total assets EEHAE 101,046 49,523
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EREREE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RRE R AL
Share capital &N 22 4,000 -
Reserves B 23 88,398 39,615
Total equity ERBE 92,398 39615
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

SEEERER

As at 31 December 019 R=FE—hF+=H=+—H

2019
—E-NF

2018

NE
HK$'000
TAT

—=F—

HK$’000
FB

LIABILITIES =N

Non-current liability FRBAE

Lease liabilities HEEE 24 2,338 2,575
2,338 2,575

Current liabilities REBEE

Trade payables B SN IE 25 1,503 3,386

Accruals and other payables FEET B A R B Ath A~ FRIE 26 2,306 3313

Current income tax liabilities ENEAFR ST B (& 2,124 477

Lease liabilities HERE 24 377 157
6,310 7,333

Total liabilities =Nt b 8,648 9,908

Total equity and liabilities ERRaEesE 101,046 49,523

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 94 to 170 were approved by
the Board of Directors on 25 March 2020 and were signed on its behalf.

Chan Yuk Pan
BRIG #
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GARSEHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B 2 = FE—NF+=H=+—HIFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company
RRAEE ARG

Share  Combined Share Capital ~ Statutory Exchange  Retained

capital capital premlu reserve reserve reserve  eamings
BA &fREA RhEE BAHE ZERE EBEAFE RERH +
HKS'000  HK$'000 HKSOOO HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
THr TEx FTEx THEx ThHr THExT TEx BT
(Note22) (Note23) (Note22) (Note23) (Note23) (Note 23)
(FiaE23) (BisE22) (BsE23) (Bak23) (PAFE23)

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE—\F—H—HH
g - 13,000 - - 630 1,710 35,655 50,995
Profit for the year FEREF - - - - - - 9,735 9,735

Other comprehensive income E fth 2 [ iz
Currency translation differences E#HEZS - - - - - (1,655) - (1,655)

Total comprehensive (l0ss)/ FR2E(ER)/
income for the year Wiz 128 - - - - - (1,655) 9735 8,080

Transactions with equity HERREANRS

holders:
Dividends paid (Note 27) ERRE (R 27) - - - - - - (194600 (19460)
Issuance of ordinary shares BEERBTEER
pursuant to the (5 22)
Reorganisation (Note 22) - (13,000) - 13,000 - - - -
Transfer to statutory reserve BRELTHE - - - - 592 - (592) -
- (13,000 - 13,000 592 - (20,052) (19,460)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZZ—\F
TZA=+—-R8EH - - - 13,000 1222 55 25338 39615
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

AR B R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & 2 =&

~NF1+A=1—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LYNGIE 2SN 31
Share Combined Share  Capital Statutory Exchange Retained
capital capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve earnings Total
KA SfRE RHEE BARE LERE EIRE REEF @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEx TEx TExT TEzx THT FEx FEz  TER
(Note22) (Note23) (Note22) (Note23) (Note23) (Note23)
(W22) (Misk23) (FfEE22) (Miaa3) (BaE23) (M¥EE23)
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZE-AE-F—HAK
&8 - - - 13000 1,222 55 25338 39,615
Profit for the year FREH = - - - - - 6,963 6,963
Other comprehensiveincome ~ Hft 2 E %
Currency translation differences  E¥HEZE - - - - - (691) - (691)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FRZAE(ER)/
income for the year ey - - - - - (691) 6,963 6,272
Transactions with equity HEREEANRS
holders:
Issuance of ordinary shares REBEEAMEBITLRR
pursuant to the capitalisation GEZ2L))
(Note 22(b) 3,000 - (3,000 - - = > >
Issuance of ordinary shares BEEMETLRR
pursuant to the listing (FERMIE)
(as detailed in Note) (M3 22(0))
(Note 22()) 1,000 - 54,000 - - - - 55,000
Listing related expenses charged ~ FARR {7 R BHIA &)
to share premium FiAERE - - (8489) - - - - (8489)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRELTRE - - - - 948 - (948) -
4,000 - 42,511 - 948 - (948) 46,511
Balance at31 December2019 R=Z—-hf
+ZA=+-BM4&H 4,000 - 42,511 13,000 2,170 (636) 31,353 92,398
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in ~ _Fal4R 7 BB IR JE A RERT MY A — O RIRE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mealRenER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 8t E — FE—NF+ = H=+—HIFZ

2019 2018
—E-hF —E—)\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TFHExT FHTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHESRE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations K (A /Fisse 30(a) (579) 11,995
Income tax paid BAFTISH (1,975) (3.022)
Interest received BUH B 9 A1
Net cash (used in)/generated from weEE (FTA),
operating activities RS T (2,545) 9,014
Cash flows from investing activities RETHESRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BENEE (79) (485)
Prepayments for purchase of property, BEYE  BELREB
plant and equipment K TR FRIE (2,235) -
Purchase of intangible assets BERTAE (83) -
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFMARSFE (2,397) (485)
Cash flows from financing activities AEETHESRE
Repayments of advance to a shareholder EERERBR - (11,044)
Payment of interest elements of lease liabilities XNEEaENSHD (10) ©)
Payment of principal elements of lease liabilities X {NfHE B EAE D (147) (69)
Payment of listing expenses to be capitalised BT ERAE
into equity Bl ANE N (7,354) (1,060)
Proceeds from shares issued pursuant to BIE EMEITRG A
the Listing FriS 508 55,000 -
Dividends paid ERRE - (7,000)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEEERE
financing activities (FTR)R&FHE 47,489 (19,179)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  IR& MRS EEY)
12,/ Omd) 42,547 (10,650)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FE#J3& NI S EEY 6,562 17,104
Currency translation differences BRI E R (69) 108
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear FRELRREZEY 49,040 6,562

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

AR AR B 8 R B LS MY I o — DT BT -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - —ZE— N &R 99



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Re SRR M A

1

100

GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANIZATION

1.1

1.2

General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26
October 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of
the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.0.Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of machinery product. (the “Business”) The ultimate
holding company of the Company is C Centrum Holdings Limited
("C Centrum”). The ultimate shareholder of the Group is Mr. Chan
Yuk Pan (“Mr. YP Chan”).

The shares of the Company are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 15 November 2019 (the
“Listing").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$") unless otherwise stated.

Reorganisation

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the completion of
the reorganization (the “Reorganisation”) as described below,
the Business was carried out by Best Linking Limited ("Best
Linking"), Wing Fung Machinery Company Limited (“Wing
Fung’) and its subsidiary (collectively the “Operating
Companies’).

In preparing for the Listing of the Company’s shares on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group underwent
the reorganisation which principally involved the following steps:

(i) On 14 September 2018, C Centrum was incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") and one share in C Centrum
was allotted and issued to Mr. YP Chan on the same day.

(i) On 26 October 2018, the Company was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands, and one subscriber share was transferred
to C Centrum on the same day at nil consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT BRRW T

GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANIZATION

(Continued)

1.2 Reorganisation (Continued)
(i) On 14 September 2018, Kyoei Seiki Holdings Limited
("Kyoei Seiki Holdings") and Best Linking Holdings
Limited ("Best Linking Holdings") were incorporated in
the BVI. On 1 November 2018, one share in Kyoei Seiki
Holdings and Best Linking Holdings were allotted and
issued to the Company, respectively.

(iv)  On 21 December 2018, the entire issued shares of Wing
Fung Machinery Company Limited were transferred from
Mr. YP Chan to Kyoei Seiki Holdings, in consideration of (i)
the Company allotting and issuing 49 shares to C Centrum,
credited as fully-paid; and (i) crediting the subscriber share
held by C Centrum as fully paid.

—RERREMH @)

1.2 EHE)

(i)

(iv)

RZFE-—NFHLA+EA "
Kyoei Seiki Holdings Limited
(TKyoei Seiki Holdings |) &
Best Linking Holdings Limited
([Best Linking Holdings |) 7
REBABREEEMKL - 1
—T-N\F+—HA—H ' —K&
Kyoei Seiki Holdings & Best
Linking Holdings % 13 %3 5!l fid 3%
NEBEITTARRAF -

%:;*A¢+*ﬂ:+*

C RUMIR AR AR RS
E?é‘ﬁﬂxf FRPR IS S e aE
¥F Kyoei Seiki Holdings + (X{B &
()2 A &) A C Centrum BR 2 &
BEITAORARIIERER D
K (i) # C Centrum P 52 B8 A
A ABRSIVESLE -

(v)  Best Linking was incorporated in Hong Kong and wholly () KEENEBEMEIEEZ
owned by Mr. Chen Hsu Ting (“Mr. HT Chen”) since 11 T-FF+A+—HEHRE
October 2010, who is the elder brother of Mr. YP Chan. As TERETRMBITRE]D)2E

part of the family arrangement and for the ease of
administration, Mr. HT Chen held the entire issued share of
Best Linking for and on behalf of Mr. YP Chan on trust and
acted as the nominee director since 11 October 2012. On
21 December 2018, the entire issued share of Best Linking
was transferred from Mr. HT Chen (being the legal owner of
Best Linking) and Mr. YP Chan (being the beneficial owner
of Best Linking) to Best Linking Holdings, at the direction of

Mr. YP Chan (being the beneficial owner of Best Linking), in
consideration of the Company allotting and issuing 50
shares to C Centrum, credited as fully paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Re SRR M A

1

102

GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANIZATION

(Continued)

1.3 Basis of presentation

Immediately prior to and after the Reorganisation, the Listing
Business is held by and conducted through the Operating
Companies. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Business are
transferred to and held by the Company. The Company has not
been involved in any other business prior to the Reorganisation
and does not meet the definition of a business. The
Reorganisation is merely a reorganisation of the Business with no
change in management of such business and the ultimate owner
of the Business remains the same. Accordingly, the Group
resulting from the Reorganisation is regarded as a continuation of
the Business under the Operating Companies and consolidated
financial statements have been prepared and presented as a
continuation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Operating Companies, with the assets and liabilities of the Group
recognised and measured at the carrying amounts of the
Business under the consolidated financial statements of the
Operating Companies for all periods presented.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT BRRW T

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEARSTHBEBER
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)
2.1.1 New and amended standards and interpretations 2.1.1 FETRETEARRE
(@) New and amended standards and interpretations @ AR EIRAEIFET R AE
adopted by the company ISET2ER 2 2 FE
The Group has applied the following standards and REBR-_ZT-NEF—
amendments for the first time for their annual A—BRBHFERS
reporting period commencing 1 January 2019: HARS B R JE A LA T 2R
KAER]
Amendments to Prepayment Features with BENKEE ABAHEN
HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation ERFER  RANTER
(BaTR)
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates EEGHER REERTR
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures £8%% BELEN
(1B3T7) RHER
Annual Improvement  Annual Improvements to HKFRS EEYEER —Z-nf%F
Project Standards 2015-2017 Cycle —TtF
BHNEE
BmEE
TR
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment BEAEER HEIBE - R
HKAS 19 or Settlement F19% S#EE
(1B3IA)
HKFRIC-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income B (ERME MEHEEY
Tax Treatments BERE THEE
%88)
—2EEBR
The adoption of these new standards and RN eL SR AT B ) 42
amendments to standards did not have any Bl A8 5T AN 18 48 39 < HR
significant impact on the current period or any prior e ok (F {7) 5 B EA fE 3 K
period. FRIERFTLE -
The Group has early adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases” AEBBE_Z—+tF
since the year ended 31 December 2017 using full +=A :—I—* BIEFE
retrospective approach and the relevant accounting REAEZEAEBHERR
policies have been consistently applied to the RN B B 15 S ZE 8|
consolidated financial statements of the Group FleR [HE]  WHA
throughout the years presented. EEEE 255 ERER
BT ERMERM

gt IR -
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re WS R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXRETBERBER)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)
2.1.1 New and amended standards and interpretations 211 T REETERRRRE(E)

(Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations (b) EAEHBEMIE M RER
which have been issued but are not yet effective and BAREREHREZRW
have not been early adopted by the Group: BT ET RASISRT 2R |

=

Effective for

accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RT3 B85
ZEBRIEH
B EEN
HKFRS 3 (Amendment) Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
BB REERIZE 35 (BETR) E 00k —E_TF-HA—H
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 (Amendment)  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2020
ERUBMEERE T  BAGF LR MEREENRE —ZE-TF—-H—H
EIFREBIBRELRE 75
(1BETA)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021
ERUBREERE 175 e m —E_—%—HA—H
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendment) Definition of Material 1 January 2020
BB A%%\;&E'J% R BAMHESE —ZE_TH—-H—H
BR G ERFE ST (BRI AK)
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework for 1 January 2020
Financial Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting
— N\EHBRE R SIER AT IR B 2 AE SR —E_TF—-A—H
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined

an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

S

BEMBHRELINE105R R HEERHEBENRINEE QT FIE
BB G ERE 285 (BFTA) ZEMEEHEITE

The Group will adopt the above new or revised AEBEER EAHE]

standards, amendments and interpretations to KASET 2R - IRB AR

existing standards as and when they become BE BT 7N 2 72 18 A U

effective. TR -
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AT BRRW T

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBAEHBEREBE®

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries 22 MEAT

2.2.1 Consolidation 221 HEAR

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over MEARAREEHHEARE
which the Group has the control. The Group controls an il 7 E’J ER(EEEBELEE
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, BB  EREEAZIZES
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and Eﬁifé*iﬁfﬁﬁ S 2 A EEHRA R R
has the ability to affect those returns through its power SER - HERNBERHYE
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date B ENZEZFORE - 8
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are REEZHZERE - HEAR
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. HARE BEEHREETAEE

Zailuﬁ /\)\B'E IQEZ
THIRELR IE 2 BRIR LR E

BE o
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains SEANQARIMERS - £EAA
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. M R G #EHR R AR R =A
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction TEHE e REREBBEITTYH
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred i FT?FX%TET @m BER
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries WERE WMERE WEA
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s A fﬁ&ﬂ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%&z LA &
accounting policies. REENGETHE -
(@) Business combinations @ EEEU
Except for the Reorganisation, the Group applies the BrEAN  NEEFNA
acquisition method of accounting is used to account FHRERBEEGMA
for all business combinations, regardless of whether EBEAR Tk
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The RIASHEHMEERES
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a RS - WHEE
subsidiary comprises the: NEIREERERE
fair values of the assets transferred . FrigiE & B
liabilities incurred to the former owners of the . Fir Wi i 5 755 5 A
acquired business BAEEWAE
equity interests issued by the Group . RNEEBITH MR
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from . SERELRHEE
a contingent consideration arrangement, and ERFREESE
BEMATE: &
fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in . AR 5 BT 72 & B
the subsidiary. YNl 20N
{E o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:

consideration transferred,
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity.

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)
(a)  Business combinations (Continued)
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors who make strategic
decisions.

re W R R M A

N

BEASTHERE &)

2.2

23

MR (&)
221 HZEAERE)
@ EEEUH(E)

i 216 0t DB R 5E
B W T B A R K
88 5 P IR R A LB B
HNEREEENTESE
WERHN A TE %
EEHEMELENT
Az sk BB R BE R
ﬁ@ o ©

2.2.2 BB KK
RATERMB ARG 21 E R
A EBRBEAR - AR
BIERECEEBMEKAE - I
BRRZEEEARRERERN
ZE W R ERAR B ALK o

st B B3 /B 2 B URER 2 iR B AR HH
EREREHEZMNBAR 22
RS 4258 - S W I8 B IS 3R
R WEFEEAEBL LRSI
WREWERRFEE(R
EEE)2EmE EEE
ZERAZRBERAYZEW
BARZIERITREN

,i DR ERSAEREHRTER
RaRRE((TEKEREEDH
NEHRENT A B - TBERER
REBEDIRERLFEEED
HREY IR ) BRI /B 1 R BE R
ERMHITES -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the Company’s functional
and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income within
“other gains/(losses), net".
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AT BRRW T

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEARSTHBEBER
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 24 INEBE(E)
(iii) Group companies (i) £EAF
The results and financial positions of all the Group entities R e B’ 2 5| BT [F
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary WATERSEER(ZEER
economy) that have a functional currency different from MEGSEREENEE)
the presentation currency are translated into the HEFZRMBARRIZR T A
presentation currency as follows: BRERZINE :
assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented . REEABRMZEIH
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that BERBEKRZEAESR
balance sheet; Bk B H py d i e Xk
g
income and expenses for each statement of . FEEAEREROBA R
comprehensive income are translated at average XTI ERnHE (B
exchange rates (unless this average is not a HZFHEELIERZS
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect AHEIRITER Rt
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in MAEEBUE - AT
which case income and expenses are translated at BRT - BEKRA KR
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and XERZ 5 AENERKR
= DI 3
all resulting exchange differences are recognised in . FrE Bt EEME K E
other comprehensive income. BE A HAth 2 U 2 R
R o
2.5 Property, plant and equipment 25 ¥ BERRE
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less Y2 - B KR AR E LR AN bR
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if ZETERZRFIREESE(E) A
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly R-BEXNABEREER BEE
attributable to the acquisition of the items. g
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or REZRERARAEANEES
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is REATZIE B ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]fﬁx%@ﬂ“ ’
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item iMe%IB B MR ANBE R SE5t 28 - 757
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured BIETEENRMEXERAE A
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is BUEE(WERB) - EEHMMHMHE
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to EEBUETR o FT A B # & LR
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the ETEEEANMBBBEARGE D
financial period in which they are incurred. E W =R
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the
straight line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over its estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and machinery 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Right-of-use assets included the rights to use certain properties
under leases which are measured at cost. The initial costs of right-
of-use assets include the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date

any initial direct costs, and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset's
useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEARSTHBEBER

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Intangible assets 26 BEEE
Intangible assets comprise system software, acquired computer BEEEBRRESEY B WER
software are capitalised on the basis of the cost incurred to HHE R I RS R E B A
acquire and bring the specific software into usage. These costs RAEEMKRETERE  ZFX
are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated NERBEZEREMFERFH=
useful life of 3 years. Cost associated with maintaining computer TR o BBETE RS MIEFE
software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred. BRI AR EERERFAZER -

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets 27 kEemEERE
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for /,\T’Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁé{FAEAﬁ$1¢jﬂ
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances & Tbﬁgmﬁﬁﬁ@—f%ﬁﬁiuﬁ@ﬁ-ﬁf
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An WEHETRT - REEBBZREER
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the E SRR E A E & 5 T LA
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The R AT E &AM D EKAE
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs WEEATEHEEHAEETHRS
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing EoMRENMME  EERAE
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which BRRORNREREEEEMR
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating SEABMN) TUDE - LRERN
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an FEMEE(TRERE) NSRS
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment H B ST B E R AT RE 1 o

at each reporting date.

2.8 Financial assets 28 SREE
(a) Classification (@ 78

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following rEEKESHEESRUT

measurement categories: afgfﬁi\)mju :

— those to be measured subsequently at fair value — HEBEATEH=GIA
(either through other comprehensive income, or ﬁf@iﬁqﬁlﬁﬁ@én‘l’)@@
through profit or loss), and =)

—  those to be measured at amortised cost. —  REENAREE -

The classification depends on the entity's business model DEBRREREESREE

for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms R EBERRIBE M E LG

of the cash flows. FIMFE o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in debt instruments, this will
depend on the business model in which the investment is
held. For investments in equity instruments, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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AT BRRW T

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEARSTHBEBER
POLICIES (continuea)
2.8 Financial assets (Continued) 28 TWMEEE)
() Measurement (Continued) () ETE#E)
() Debtinstruments () BEFEIA
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments BB ILANHRBITES
depends on the Group's business model for ANEARAEBEESE
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics ENEBREXAREED
of the asset. Assets that are held for collection of e mEe - (MEER
contractual cash flows where those cash flows BB mﬁ,qﬁzﬂy/—\ #4938 4
represented solely payments of principal and interest = BZERSRES
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income AR RMERZ - B
from these financial assets is included in finance REB MRS o 2
income using the effective interest rate method. Any SREENF AW AL
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised BB R R A RS
directly in profit or loss and presented in “other WA o BUNRERE T
gains/(losses), net” together with foreign exchange 36k BB B I N 1B 35
gains and losses. T I U
BB [z (8

18)FE 25 -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)

(i)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"),
except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “other gains/(losses), net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in “other gains/(losses), net” and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"). A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL
is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within “other gains/(losses), net” in the period in
which it arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

29

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assess on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
Note 3 details how the Group determines whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimation of
credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial assets.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the assets. The provision
matrix is determined based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.
At every reporting date the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

2.10 Financial liabilities

(a) Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it
is classified as held-for trading, it is a derivative or it is
designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL arc measured at fair value and net gains and
losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in
profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial liabilities (Continued)

(b) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability
when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability arc substantially different. In this case, a
new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and
the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised
in profit or loss.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Inventories

BEASTHERE &)

2.13 &

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted-average method. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw material,
direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads
(based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less

FERRARAERFENRES
SRR ° BRAAFE R INREFLEPEETE -
HEmEERHBORANBERY
Bt BERST - B ERKAR R
AEERS (AR —RELEEN) -
AERFES—REBBEPOG

applicable variable selling expenses. FTEEREAEEERS -
2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 214 BERBELEEY
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash RizcBReneary  ReakBe

equivalents include deposits held at call with banks and cash on
hand.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares

2.15

FEYEEFHNRITEEBFR
MFBERE -

B2
BRI B AER -

BATH IR B R IE IR AN FE

are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. =G BFTSSRIERIR (BRTiE) -
2.16 Trade and other payables 2.16 EZ R HAMENIER

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period's taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the company and its
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the
tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally

enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and

where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

2.18 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to
be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Pension obligations

The Group contributed to a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) which is a defined
contribution plan and is available to all employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions to the MPF Scheme by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The MPF Scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
MPF Scheme.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Pension obligations (Continued)

Full time employees of the Group’s PRC entity participate
in a government mandated multi-employer defined
contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension
benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance,
employee housing fund and other these benefits based on
certain percentage of the employees’ salaries. Full time
employees who have passed the probation period are
entitled to such benefits.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contribution are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are
due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders after
certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEARSTHBEBER

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Provisions 2.19 #BiE
Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or EASEABTEHMELARE X
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable ERETEME  MRAIEFEER
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the MENBITEMR BoBEaen &M
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. B RMERREHE - BT ERANXK
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. (BRI -
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood MBZBAURME  CHEEFRTE
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by BRREAIEEMENRAREER
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is EEERITE o BIFEEGT AR —
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to HABEMEN—EEEAENE
anyone item included in the same class of obligations may be TR A B AR Y - DB R
small. 1o
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures BEEBETETEEIREENRAX
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax IRAI ARG ENREE - %A
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of EREERETSHEEREERR
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the FRERBAFE - AREHERMN
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest I EEER AT BT -
expense.

2.20 Contingent liabilities 2.20 KAEE
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past SABBERBEISHTESIBWE
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the - UEEAFHE—SIFELRE
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future | 5K B2 5T 245 i 89 T e B AR R E 1
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a EERELETUER - AEE
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised MAlgtE ABEEHBMEER
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources AR ESECEER
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured M KBRS RERGEN EETE
reliably. MmA T ARER °
A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the BEXRABELTHR - EREEY
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an BRETPRE - ZREERNA B
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be MEE - BEAEREHER - Bzt
recognised as a provision. NBEREERBEE -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
good may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheet as a
contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

BEASTHERE &)

2.21 WEER (&)

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity as described below:

The Group manufactures and sells a range of machinery products
to customers. Sales of goods transferred at a point in time are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to the customers, the customer
has full discretion over the usage of the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. No element of financing is deemed present as
the sales are made with a credit term of 30-90 days, which is
consistent with market practice.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment is
received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A
contract liability is the Group's obligation to transfer the promised
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

2.22 Interestincome

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

2.23 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Leases

The Group leases production factory in PRC and office in Hong
Kong. Property leases are typically made for fixed periods of two
to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain various terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease
and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single lease
component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Leases (Continued)

BEASTHERE &)

224 HE (&)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was received.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included
in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to
lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease
liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received

any initial direct costs, and

restoration costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen
not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholder is recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

2.26 Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred.
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 BEREREARRER
MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors 3.1 BEREZE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, credit risk, cash flow and fair value interest

rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management

procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(@

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars
("USD”) and Renminbi ("RMB"). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these
currencies. Since Hong Kong dollar (‘"HKD") is pegged to
USD, the Group believes the exposure of transactions
denominated in USD which are entered into the by Group
to be insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has
not entered into any derivative instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposures (2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, if USD has strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB, with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have
change mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of USD denominated on cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and
other payables, as follows:

REBWEBEERZBHBER
9|\EJ—L fEERRE - BERER
ATFEMNERRBRETBE SRR -
REBEHE ‘E‘%}—Lﬁﬁﬁiﬁifﬁ%%ﬁ
NFERR & /TS - WS RESH
ﬁﬂzli‘i@ﬂﬁ%i%iﬁﬁfr%ﬁkﬁ’%%&

FRHE -

(i) SMERBR
AEERFENTEEE
2R G E R E L HIMNER
w T2EBET(ER]
RARE (AR - SMER
BREL B AL FEBHERR
REERS  BEHEREERSE
e mRABIT(IET]) HAX
TLHN - REER 7%$EIET
MARTTAHERN R HE R I T
E- N

—E-AE+-A=1+—
BIEFE  AEBIWELT T
I £7 £ T B & E N E & B
ZE-NF |

F:; nNFE+ZA=+—

CETLE AR BZE
5% MEMESRFITE
FERBB RN EMME
I%E@ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%
MR EEY - BHREME
R IB & B 5 Rk E b FE S 5B
MEE X e EEERE - BT
SXER

2019 2018
—E-h&E ST )\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT

Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase [ Ft14 3% F GRi4>) /180

— Strengthened 5% — A0 5%
— Weakened 5% — B 5%

747 33
(747) (33)
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from a shareholder and cash and cash equivalents. Majority
of bank deposits are placed with reputable banks and
financial institutions. The maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit terms
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history
and the Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its
customers. The Group's historical experience in collection
of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the shareholder are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible receivables has been
made.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, amount due from a shareholder and
cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, 75% (2018: 66%), of
the Group’s revenue was derived from its top five
customers. As at 31 December 2019, 92% of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group's top five customers
(2018: 48%).
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AT BRRW T

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 MHEBRREFREBREE@

MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERBEEE)

(ii)  Creditrisk (Continued) (i) EERKE)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AT E ~ 1o A L
15

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables mainly TERRUR - 12 RE M ERGK
represented the rental deposits and prepayment paid to HEXEERWEDE - HE R
suppliers for acquisition of property, plant and equipment. BEREENZTNEERS
They are assessed by reference to the historical information RIEMFHE - H2REFHE
about counterparty default rates. The Group has reviewed PEFBEERTE - A% .
the credit quality of these counterparties. The Group EERHZEHFINEREHE
believes that the credit risk in relation to the prepayments, Z - ASEMBEEBEBNR
deposits and other receivables are minimal. 15 - Be REHAEWFIENE

ERBEK -

Cash and cash equivalents Be REZEEY

As at 31 December 2019, substantially all of the Group's RZE-NAF+RA=+—
bank deposits were deposited with major financial A RNEEBKRIHEDHRITHE
institutions, which management believes are of high- RIFARB SRR - ME
credit-quality without significant credit risk. BEMEHEEEREEERR

WEBREERR

Trade receivables B ZEW A

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for REEEABETEREAM

expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which 53R &5 22 RI 56 o 5% & i /9 78 B

permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for EEBETIREE - Easst

all trade receivables. FTE & 5 EWGRIA A 25 5
TEHAES 1R -
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, management considered the
credit risk characteristics and the days past due of the trade
receivables to measure the expected credit loss. For the
past due trade receivables as at 31 December 2019, the
Group has assessed that the expected credit loss rate for
these trade receivables are immaterial by closely
monitoring the credit qualities, collectability of these
receivables considering historical default rates, existing
market conditions and forward-looking information. The
Group recognised lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables carried at amortised cost based on either
individually customers who are long overdue with
significant amounts or known insolvencies or non-response
to collection activities, or collectively assessing them for
likelihood of recovery based on ageing of the balances
with similar risk characteristics taking into account the
forward looking information. Management does not expect
any significant losses to be incurred from non-performance
by these counterparties because of their good repayment
history. Thus, the loss allowance provision recognised
during the year for these balances are close to zero (2018:
Nil).
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AT BRRW T

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HEBEBRREXARREE®
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BMEEKREEE)
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (iii) RERERAFEFZRAM
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets or BRIReRBSEFEWIN K&
liabilities except for cash and cash equivalents. EWEERGFEEENERE
Hence our Group’s income and operating cash flows are Ett - ANEEmURA R AEETE
less dependent on changes in market interest rates. SRETAIUARTIZFIEE
Accordingly, our directors are of the opinion that our Group FE o BHit EERA KK
does not have significant cash flow and fair value interest EvmERNRERE AT
rate risk and no sensitivity analysis is performed. EFERRE  WEELSKRE
Paxilk
(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) R"BESLEK
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining HEMNRBDECRREEEK
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Our Group's liquidity ZURBEHANRE MRS EE
risk is further mitigated through the availability of financing Yo REEERIARRZHIR
through its own cash resources to meet its financial SERESRE - NEMNEY
commitments. In the opinion of our directors, our Group TEAEIE - U — P REE R
does not have any significant liquidity risk. BESER EERA K
B EEMERNREESR
Bz o
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREIIAEGORMIRRSR
maturities at the end of each reporting period of our EREE/AEESHAER
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual EMERRZHBTELOEEH
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date our Group RASEEMGKz&FTHER-
can be required to pay. Balances due within 12 months HRITHENZERIKR B2
equal their carrying balances (including both interest and &l A B Hir S er S A H AR
principal) as the impact of discounting is not significant. HEER(BREMERERS) -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 BEREEAERER®)
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BBEREEE)
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv) REBESEAK(E)

Between1 Between2
Repayable  Lessthan and and Over
on demand 1year 2years 5years 5years Total

ERREE 15 1E2f 2%E5F% SE& ait
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TR TR

Asat31December2019 R-B—-hE&E

+=A=t+-H
— Trade payables —ESENFZE - 1,503 - - - 1,503
— Accruals and other — B ERER
payables HEib R 70A - 1,403 - - - 1,403
— Lease liabilities —HEafk - 503 498 1,448 724 3,173
- 3,409 498 1,448 724 6,079
Asat31December2018  WZE-N\E
+-A=t—H
— Trade payables —ESENFE - 3386 - - - 3,386
— Accruals and other — B EER
payables HEib R 0A - 2,125 - - - 2,125
— Lease liabilities —HEaE - 166 459 1476 1229 3330
- 5677 459 1476 1,229 83841
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AT BRRW T

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HEBEBRREXARREE®
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard REBCEAEBRERRERSE

3.3

the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

lﬁ%%%; AR IRR S R B 3R
W AR E S KN - [
%%1$Z§f$,%ﬁ%tmﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁ2$ °

RTHFBIHABENGE  A5E
AREEABRIN TRRORES

B MERBEEES BT
HEEEARKETR -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any debt owed RZE—-NAF+ZA=+—H XK
to other party (2018: Nil). SR BN A R E A M ERMER (=
T N\F | o

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial assets,
including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, and current financial liabilities, including
trade payables and accruals and other payables and lease
liabilities approximate their fair values as at the reporting date
due to their short maturities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the

related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed

below.

3.3 AV E2ZM&EEF

ARESHME  AEBRSBEAR
Y RDemEE(BIEESREK
FIE - e REMEWHRIE - B
FEeEEY MRdhemBE (R
IEESEMFIERETER R EAMD
J?EH,TAIE)&%H EgE) 2cREEH
ERNFEES

B ESH A ET R A E

it R AT RN - RBELRK
HitRESE  BRERBBEERLTHRES
BEZHAREMHOTES -

AL BERKAEH B RRE - BB R

C BEHET RO FRMAERER - T
M T BE & B BUR T B B B R A
BENMBBEZEREFLIERNHEZE
REBR 2 7T R R& -
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

134

(a)

(b)

(c)

Provision for slow moving inventories

The Group makes provision for slow moving inventories based on
assessing the needs and reasonableness of provision for slowing
moving inventories at each period end. The identification of slow
moving inventories requires the use of judgements and key
assumptions which take into consideration of historical sales
pattern, ageing and expectation of future sales orders. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision for
inventories in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

Impairment of right of use assets

The Group leased land and buildings in the PRC for the purposes
of its office premises and manufacturing plant under an operating
lease of 10 years where the leased land and buildings, classified
as right of use assets of the Group were without land and
property ownership certificates and the construction planning
permit. Without the certificates and permit, the existing land and
buildings might be ordered for demolition or confiscated and the
lease may be deemed as invalid. Our directors are of the opinion,
based on the advice from the Group's external legal adviser, that
the title defect of the leased land and buildings does not affect
the operation of production facility of the Group. It is unlikely to
be terminated or interrupted or to have a material effect on the
carrying amount of the right of use assets which was included in
right of use assets totalling HK$2,592,000 as at 31 December 2019
(2018: HK$3,048,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Loss allowance of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group's historical default rates, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The Group recognised lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables carried at amortised cost based on either individually
customers who are long overdue with significant amounts or
known insolvencies or non-response to collection activities, or
collectively assessing them for likelihood of recovery based on
ageing of the balances with similar risk characteristics taking into
account the forward looking information. The identification of
impairment of receivables requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the carrying value of
receivables and loss for the impairment of receivables recognised
in the periods in which such estimates have been changed.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors of our
Company. Management has determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by our executive director for the purpose
of allocating resources and assessing performance. The only component
in internal reporting to the executive directors is our Group's
manufacturing of machinery products for the year ended 31 December
2019. In this regard, management considers there is only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Our directors assess the performance of the operating segment based
on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

o= A
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Revenue from major customers who have
individually contributed to 10% or more of the total
revenue of the Group
For the year ended 31 December 2019, there were four customers
(2018: three), which individually contributed over 10% of our
Group's total revenue. Revenue contributed from our major
customers were as follows:

Customer A ZEA
Customer B =FB
Customer C BPC
Customer D ®FD

5

WERDEER (&)
ORI -1 PV &

10% U ENEFEEF WS

HE-_Z—-NAF+-A=+—HL
FE “ﬁm%(_gﬂ\i =%)
B E R & B A 5 B 48 U2k 109% A

Lt TERPERMOKEEIIMNT

2019 2018
—E—hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
18,161 9,431
10,071 -
8,403 3,508
7,604 8,779

(b) Segment revenue by customers’ geographical
location
Our Group is domiciled in the PRC and Hong Kong. Our Group's
revenue by geographical location, which is determined by the
location of customers, is as follows:

(b)

BREFHEMNES SN D B
=

AEBURTEEES - AEER
wEGE(RETFPUEERE)ED
HU R I T -

2019 2018

—E—hE —FE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&xT T4

Singapore AN 32,555 24,082
Malaysia 5 Rfes 18,737 5,603
Hong Kong B 4,537 6,445
Japan =]\ 4,105 961
The United States of America ES 2,346 1312
The PRC s 2,018 3,153
Canada hnEX 1,003 650
Taiwan é\/*é 945 753
Northern Ireland EME 875 2,350
Thailand 2= B I 142 734
Others Hip 246 224
67,509 46,267
Others include Turkey, the Philippines and New Zealand. B BELEE  JEERE LW o
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Details of contract liabilities (Note 26)

BMAaE -
HoAth & A5 50IR

Contract liabilities, included in accruals
and other payables

4R B

N

B 75 ¥R 3R MY 5E

5 WHERDIBER (2
() BHBEES (Hike)

2019
e

2018

—N\F
HK$'000
TAT

HK$’000
FEx

FPARERTEA K

175 -

Note:

As at 31 December 2019, contract liabilities represent advanced payments received
from the customers for goods that have not yet been transferred to the customers,
the contract liabilities mainly included the advance payments received from sale of
machinery products. The contract liabilities increased during the year due to
fluctuation in sales with advanced payments.

Revenue recognised that was included

in the contract liability balance BRIk =
at the beginning of the year
Sales contracts HEAX

MEE -

RZF-NF+ZA=+—08 &NAEH
P REETEPOE R TEN TR -
ANAETZEREERMERMEKDRKTE
NHIE - RAFE - AHNEEEYRIENRK
A HERE T L% -

2019
—E-NF

2018

NEF
HK$'000
TAT

—F—

HK$’000
FEx

SAFA N B ERESRE

= 482

As at 31 December 2019, all performance obligations not yet
satisfied by the Group were from contracts with original expected
duration of less than one year. Therefore, as permitted by the
relevant practical expedient under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied performance obligations were not disclosed.

—nF+=ZA=+—H =&
SEHNABITHNEOEEZIHHK
BRREFT AN —FHNELD -
Eit - BB RS 2RI 15
RIKBEEFE ”'JEI'JLBZﬁnJ THEE
BRIEEEFT AR EZEHR
J@ﬁi@@ﬁfiﬁ’%&%f;%ﬂﬂﬁ&&% °
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continved) 5 WERDIBELE &)

(d) Non-current assets by geographical location (d) ZRMWEBNBEISHNIERBEE
The total amounts of non-current assets by location are as LR P R IERE) B E B E W
follows: I

2019 2018
—B-NF —T)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FHTT
The PRC Fh 9,649 9,096
Hong Kong &5 150 261
9,799 9,357
6 EXPENSES BY NATURE 6 RMEEIMNFEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and ETAHERAR « HE R HEFAZ RITHHA
administrative expenses are analysed as follows: THREZ MR
2019 2018
—B-NF —T)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Cost of inventories and consumable (Note 20) 178 K& H MR A A (B3t 20) 27,668 15,886
Provision for slow moving inventories (Note 20) A& 1% & #¢& (M4 T 20) 315 -
Employee benefit expenses, including EEREMAY -
directors’ emoluments (Note 7) BREEZEME (FHE7) 8,478 6,987
Amortisation (Note 16) BiH (Mt 16) 7 26
Depreciation (Note 15) #rE (M3t 15) 1,891 2,871
Listing expenses FiREX 13,092 4,681
Legal and professional fees FEREBEXEER 357 /
Auditors' remuneration 1% B8R 7 A
— Audit services — BE RS 1,035 127
— Non-audit services — EEFIRTE 170 -
Utilities NHERE 938 896
Transportation expenses B 741 1,158
Other expenses HEmR 2,744 1,863
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution HERA - HE K
expenses and administrative expenses DIEFAX RITRFX 25 57,436 34,502
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 7

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Employee benefit expenses

4R B

N

(a)

B 75 ¥R 3R MY 5E

BERAAX  BRESHE

BERERAMAX

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT

Wages, salaries, bonuses and TITE - -#H¢ A REAMET
other benefits 7,960 6,539

Pension costs — defined contribution RIKEA — EREEREE
plans 455 423
Mandatory provident fund scheme REIMAEREE 63 25
8,478 6,987
Five highest paid individuals (b) EEBREHFEA

The five individuals whose remuneration were the highest in the
Group include two directors for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: One), whose remuneration are reflected in the

analysis presented in Note 10(a) below.

The remuneration paid to the remaining three individuals for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: four) are as follows:

Wages, salaries, bonuses and

TEAL R B At t@ )

BE-_Z-NFt-_A=1t—HL

FE AREFHFMHESHRAME
ABEMA(ZE-N\F: —R)&E

F o EEHMRBA T XK RE10@) P
EFH DT °

@é:%*ﬂ¢+:ﬂz+*ﬁt
FE BEIXNFHT=ZR(ZE—
F o OE) BANEBE T

2019
—E-hEF

2018
—E2—N\F
HKS'000
FHBTT

HK$’000
TET

other benefits 762 545
Pension costs — defined contribution BRIRE R AR — EREERETE
plans (Note) (PF5E) 10
Mandatory provident fund scheme BHERESETE 25
797 561
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re WS R AR M R

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 7 EERANMX BREEENE
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (%)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EBBRSHFMBAE)
The emolument of the highest paid individuals fell within the S EANB S ER A TR

following bands:

2019 2018
—e-nE —E)N\4&
Emolument band B 28 5
Nil to HK$1,000,000 21,000,000 % 7T 3 4
No directors or any of the five highest paid individuals received BE-Z-NF+-A=1+—HL
any emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or FE HMEEFIENEEESH
upon joining the Group or compensation for loss of office for the 287 B A5 B W EUE R & 1R
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). DA & B sk hn A& 1Y 22 ) 3k B B
WE(ZZE-NF &)
8 OTHERINCOME 8 HflA
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FHTT
Sales of scrapped materials SHERER 399 481
Government grants B 468 B = 415
Sundry income MBI A 2 46
401 942
9 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 9 Hftlz (F518) B8

2019 2018
—E-hE ST )\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT

Exchange differences, net M 5 2= H 55 208 (151)
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AT BRRW T

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR 10 EENTEANRER

EENME

REBEZ-_T-NFRZZT-NF
+ZA=+—RHLFE FTEEBECD
- R JEAS AR BE R E F B BN 2 &L

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a)
The emoluments of individual directors for our Company paid
and payable by our Group for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2019 are set out below:

FanT
For the year ended 31 December 2018: HE—_E—N\E+-_BA=+—HIF
FE
Allowances  Employer's
and  contribution
Discretionary benefits  to pension
Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
2k EERK
WEEA  EWEF  FEIER
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. YP Chan (Chairman and BEWLE
Chief Executive Officer) (LERITEHEZ) - 760 - - 18 778
Mr. Chan Lung Pan BREEI LA - - - - - -

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

BE-Z—hFE+=ZA=+—HL

o3
Allowances  Employer’s
and contribution
Discretionary  benefitsin  to pension
Salaries bonuses kind scheme Total
EER  ETENR
e g1t ENEF  EEX @t
Executive directors: #1ES:
Mr. YP Chan (Chairman and BEWLE
Chief Executive Officer) (TREFITHEH) - 817 - - 26 843
Mr. Chan Lung Pan e L& - 310 = = 15 325
Independent non-executive B IEHITESE -
directors:
Mr.Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan ~ FRIAB £ 4 23 - - - - 23
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam Ty e 18 - - - - 18
Ms. Tam Ho Ting ARt 18 - - - - 18
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continued)

142

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received from our Group by these directors in their capacity as
employee to the subsidiaries of our Group and no directors
waived any emolument during the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil).

Mr. YP Chan was appointed as the Company’s director on 26
October 2018 and re-designated as an executive director on 12
March 2019.

Mr. Chan Lung Pan was appointed as the Company's executive
director on 12 March 2019.

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan, Ms. Tsang Hau Lam and Ms. Tam
Ho Ting were appointed as independent non-executive directors
of the Company on 21 October 2019. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the independent non-executive directors had
not yet been appointed and received nil directors’ remuneration
in the capacity of directors.

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of our directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2018: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of our directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2018: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors services

During the year ended 31 December 2019, our Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’
services (2018: Nil).

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - kBt &2 £ Bl R B BR A

10 EENTARERS #)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EENME (2
EXFREFMEZRSESTAAEH
KB R EMRE & B AN BUEH
B RBE_T-NF+A
=t HLEFE BEBEEEHEE
e (ZF—/\F: &) -

REWEER_ZT—-NFE+A
“HARAEZEREARBEETLR
- NF=A+ZHRBAERAT
5%

REWEER —_T-hF=A+=
BEZERRAFNITES -

BRoOMESEE - BTl MEAZ
IR -_ZE-NF+A-_+—HE
é&%$ TW%i#ﬂh%%
RBEE-_T-NAF+-_A=t+—H
FE- ﬁi#ﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%y
ERIEAEE S HREUERES
oM -

EEHRNER
RAFE  HEEERIREKER
BEMEARBEMN(ZT—N\F : &) -

ESNERER
RAFE  HEEFWIEK SR
REMBERARN (=T —\F + &) -

RERMESRBAE=SR
HHKE
RBE-FT-NAF+-_A=t+—8
LHFE AEBWRAEREHHNE
ERBMEEAE=TXHRE
E-N\F: 8-
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there is no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
or controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2018: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to our Group's business to which our Group was a party
and in which a director of our Company had a material interest,
whether directly to indirectly; subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year (2018: Nil).

11 FINANCE COST, NET

4R B

N

B 75 ¥R 3R MY 5E

10 EENTARERS #)

(e)

(f)

EMUES BESEHNEE
RHEEEEETEANER
BOERR RS 0ER

RBE-FT-NAF+-_A=t+—H
IFFE - BENES  EFEGHH
FERABEERAY S /\ﬁﬁuT_L
EAER BUEREEMBR
BE(ZZ—N\F : |) -

EERRS RHREHNNE
KR
RERIVAFREEMERE - HE
EREARESELRARFNES
REFRAEAES (EBREZRAH
BINASEXRBHENERRS
ZHREHN(ZT—N\F : &) -

11 RERAFHE

2019
—F-NF

2018

—)\%
HK$'000
FHET

HK$’000
FEx

Finance income A WA

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 84 K&IR & S EWHIF B UA 9 41
Finance cost BhE R AR

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAENFEMEZ (134) (130)
Finance cost, net BhE AR A SRR (125) (89)
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12 FifSHimMx

144

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:

Wiz
i

é%%

EemlERANRNMENFX

2019 2018
—E-AF —N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T

Current income tax BUEAFT 1S5
— PRC enterprise income tax — R EMEH 1,457 904
— Hong Kong profits tax — HEFEH 2,190 1,833
Total current income tax BIHART/S T 4258 3,647 2,737
Deferred income tax (Note 28) IEIEFTIS L (P 5E 28) (53) (5)
Income tax expense SR 3,594 2,732

() Hong Kong profits tax (i) BBFEH

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was
signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying group entity in Hong Kong will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at
16.5%.

The profits of group entity in Hong Kong not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at the

#*ff/\iiﬂfﬂL*El BB
MOESEB T FHREUERT)
(%75['?)1I¢1§IJE*(H%@JE¥J)

H | AR HI FS R BIE o P
ERER-_ZT-N\F=ZA-+NAER

ERRERINBATIEER -

BIEMAGFERERNE - &K
EEEEETEENE2 BB LA
151E825% T KT - M2 B &8
TCUA | B9 55 FI #5 3216.5% B9 7 R 1
B o

A ZMBHFSHEGEER
mﬁlﬁﬁmﬂ%%fﬁ £ 16.5%

flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, effective from the year ended 31 WREAT Bt BEEZZE
December 2019 and 2018, the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated —NEFERZFE-NF+A=+—
at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 of the estimated assessable BIEFEE AEESERER

profits for the Group’s qualifying entity and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2,000,000.
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(ii)

The PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”)
Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT Law”),
the applicable income tax rate for Kyoei Seiki in the PRC is 25%.

Pursuant to the New EIT Law, with respect to a new and high
technology enterprise, the tax levied on its income will be
charged at a preferential rate of 15% after obtaining the High
New Technology Enterprise Certificate (the “Certificate”) and
completing the tax reduction and exemption filing with the tax
authorities. Kyoei Seiki obtained the Certificate on 9 November
2017 and the Certificate will expire on 8 November 2020. During
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, as a result of Kyoei
Seiki qualifying for High New Technology Enterprise status, the
applicable tax rate of Kyoei Seiki is 15%.

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate of the

Group entities as follows:

N

re W R R M A

12 Fi8%iMxX (&)

(ii)

PEICERESHR(EERESHD
RIBFBECEMERE(LEMSE
Bkl - HRBEEEA P B #E
RS A 25% °

REBFEEMBRE e
TEME  REESHEHEGER
(R ) K m B 745 1 B8 52 P B 75
MR RSB ABRFER  EMEM
IR B EB T 15% UL - LEHER
BHR _ZE—tF+— ANLHEE
ABRARABEN _E_TF+—A
NBEE - REZ2-_Z—N\FEL=
E-NF+ZA=+—HILFE "
MR HEERBE R TS SRR
EH R B - WL SRS
A EAE15% °

N ER BB BT 15 75 BT st M) O 5 TR B {5 A R
SEEROCEMHEREMELNIER
MEBEERENT

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FHIT
Profit before income tax & FT 1S 5 B A 10,557 12,467
Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to #iE AR AN B A Fa A
profits of the respective subsidiaries M R E 18 1,412 1,951
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TAHIF A 2,428 954
Research and development tax e IEE e (M)
credit (Note) (245) (172)
Income not subject to tax BAERBA (1) (M
Income tax expense FrS#iF 2 3,594 2,732
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12

13

146

CRELE € s

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 34.0% for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: 21.9%).

Note:

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureaus of the
PRC, enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 75%
of the research and development expenses from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of our Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue. The weighted average number of ordinary

shares for such purpose has been retrospectively adjusted for the
effects of the issue of shares in connection with the capitalisation of
shares (Note 22).

12

13

PR ()

REBEE-_ZE—AF+_A=1+—HI*F
& MEFHBEAREH340%(ZZF—N
F1219%) o

GEE
Rt MERBH BAGIARARIE  h=F
—tF—A—BE-F-AF+-A=+—0 #F
FREB MR AR R RIS A 75% -

BRER

BRANIRAN R B GHEA ARG FIER A

?Xﬁ%ﬁﬁxm%ﬁiﬁ% HSH - 3t
M8 EBENEFHHERBMER
fem TR (M E22) W2 & 1EE W3

B o
=

Profit attributable to equity holders of KARIERFEA
our Company (HK$'000) e R A (FH&T) 6,963 9,735
Weighted average number of BT, I8 (TR)
shares in issue (thousand) 312,877 300,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents per share) G IREZARZF (FREN) 2.2 32
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2019 and HE_Z—NWFE=ZFTE-N\F+=A

2018 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there were no
potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the years.
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SUBSIDIARIES

4R B

N

B 75 ¥R 3R MY 5E

14 B E]

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 are set out

below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely
of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the
proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by

the Group. The countries of incorporation or registration are also their

principal place of business.

Name of subsidiaries

o) PNCRCEE

Kyoei Seiki Holdings Limited

Kyoei Seiki Holdings Limited

Best Linking Holdings Limited

Best Linking Holdings Limited

Wing Fung Machinery Company
Limited

RERMARRT

Best Linking Limited

XBEBRAT

Kyoei Seiki Co,, Limited

REEHRARRA

REHRE

Place and date of
incorporation
a8 B S 3t
R BH

The BV,
14 September 2018
ERERRES
—NENATIH

The BV,
14 September 2018
ERERRES
- N\ENATHEA

Hong Kong,
10 November 2005
&
“ZTRF+-ATH

Hong Kong,
15 September 2010

il
—E-TFAATHEHA

The PRC,
5 September 2007

HE
—EELFNARA

Principal activities
and place
of operation

IRFHREL Y

Investment holding
in the BVI

REBERRES
REEKR

Investment holding
in the BVI

REBERRES
REER

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REBREER

Trading of machinery
products in
Hong Kong
NEBEERMER

Manufacturing of
machinery products
in the PRC

e ESUERME @

AEER-_ZE-NF+_A=1t—BH
TEMBL ﬂﬁ\JﬁﬁD—F ° BB IS -
HEAERRASEEZF AN EBR
LR HRAEERL I EFRAARETA

EVIREHE - EMAR L ERBERTAET
BEEME

Particulars of issued Effective interest

share capital held by the Group
BE1T
AT AE rEBFEERRE
2019 2018
“E-NE ZE)N\F
1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
US$T each
1R ETHEER
1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
USST each
e Fliok:3 il
13,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
shares HK$13,000,000
13,000,000 % & %
13,000,000 7T
1 ordinary share 100% 100%
HKS1
[tk 3 ille
Registered capital of 100% 100%
HK$20,000,000
FEMACAR 20,000,000 7T
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re WS R AR M R

15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% BERRE

Right of Office Plant and Motor

useassets  equipment machinery vehicles
FREEE BAZHRE BERES HE +
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET TET TET FAET

At 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\F—H—H

Cost BEN 4,279 1113 25,681 789 31,862
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (641) (787) (17,.882) (789) (20,099)
Net book amount REFE 3638 326 7,799 - 11,763

Year ended 31 December 2018 BHE—Z—N\F

TZA=+-RLEE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 3638 326 7,799 - 11,763
Additions RE 315 79 546 - 940
Depreciation nE (495) (146) (2,230) - (2871)
Exchange differences ERER (167) (13) (324) - (504)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 3,291 246 5,791 - 9328
At 31 December 2018 RZZ—N\F

+-A=+—-H
Cost [N 4379 1,133 24914 - 30426
Accumulated depreciation ZrE (1,088) (887) (19,123) - (21,098)
Net book amount REEE 3,291 246 5,791 - 9328
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AT BRRW T

15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15 Y% BERRKRE®

Right of Office  Plantand Motor
useassets equipment machinery vehicles Total

EREEE NOERHE BERMH HE st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TERT TR TER TR

Year ended 31 December2019 HE-ZE—NEF

TZA=t-HLEFE
Opening net book amount FOEETE 3,291 246 5,791 = 9,328
Additions NE 110 49 28 - 187
Disposal & (55) - - - (55)
Depreciation e (554) (122) (1,215) - (1,891)
Exchange differences EHER (50) (4) (90) = (144)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 2,742 169 4,514 - 7,425
At 31 December 2019 R-B-NF
tZA=t-AH
Cost %N 4,304 1,160 24,480 - 29,944
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE (1,562) (991) (19,966) - (22,519)
Net book amount BREFE 2,742 169 4,514 - 7,425
The right of use assets represents the lease on production factory in the TREEERHETENEERE RS
PRC and office and carpark in Hong Kong. B ER R8I o
During the year, the amounts of depreciation expense charged to cost RAFE - BEERARITEFAZ RS
of sales and administrative expenses are as follows: MERISBEWT :
2019 2018
=E2—NF —E—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Cost of sales SHEE RN 1,578 2,496
Administrative expenses THAX 313 375
1,891 2,871
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re WS R AR M R

16 INTANGIBLE ASSET 16 B&EE
Computer
software
B4
HKS'000
TFETT
At 1 January 2018 RZE—NF—H—H
Cost DN 78
Accumulated amortization B 5 (52)
Net book amount BREFE 26
Year ended 31 December 2018 HEZZ—N\F+_A=+—HIEFE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 26
Amortisation (Note 6) B (Miske) (26)
Exchange differences EHER -
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE -
At 31 December 2018 RZE—NF+=-A=+—A”
Cost BN 78
Accumulated amortization R i (78)
Net book amount BREDFE -
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z—NF+ZA=+—HILLEE
Opening net book amount EAYIERTED R A =
Addition NE 83
Amortisation (Note 6) 5 (fsEe) (7)
Exchange differences EHER (1)
Closing net book amount EREREDFE 75
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hEF+=A=+—H
Cost B 7R 160
Accumulated amortization RET (85)
Net book amount BREDFE 75
Amortisation was included in administrative expenses in the BT AR A 2 EMERAMITERFES -

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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AT BRRW T

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 17 REHESHNEMIAE
AEENSRTABETIRE :

The Group's financial instruments include the following:

2019 2018
—E-NF —N\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
F#&x T
Financial assets: SREE -
Assets at amortised cost as per RIBREEEBBERITHEE
consolidated balance sheet AT R B E
Trade receivables B Z W EIR 16,884 3,821
Deposits and other receivables Re N E A EUGRIA 149 236
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 49,040 6,562
66,073 10,619
Financial liabilities: SRBE
Liabilities at amortised cost as per BB EERBERKTEHE
consolidated balance sheet KAFERAEE
Trade payables B S IE IR 1,503 3,386
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,715 2,732
Accruals and other payables FEET & A I B th A~ FRIE 1,403 2,125
5,621 8,243
18 TRADE RECEIVABLES 18 EZEWFIE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
F#&xT T
Trade receivables g 5 IR 16,884 3,821
As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, the carrying amounts of trade RZE—-NFRZE-NF+=A=1—

SN E%EH% TR RRE(E R E QA

receivables approximated their fair values.

+
T

AREMIHE VREEH
30HZEH -

T EENTF

The Group's sales are on credit terms primarily from 30 days to 90 days.
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re WS R AR M R

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18 ESEWRE @
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, based on invoice date, are BIERZHE - B85 EKRFIENRE ST
as follows: W
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TH T FABT
Up to 30 days 30 AR 4,628 1,967
1-60 days 31260 H 4,171 784
1-90 days 61290 H 4,881 1,070
-120 days 912120 H 3,204 -
16,884 3,821
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables were REEEZERYGRIBENEREET AT
denominated in the following currencies: HHEE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FAT
usb = 16,248 2,891
RMB ARE 586 930
HKS BT 50 -
16,884 3,821
The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 RZE-N\FEZZE-NF+ZA=T—
was the carrying value of the receivables mentioned above. The Group =] E’\J &= EE}—U{M & _Eat W IR AR
does not hold any collateral as security. HE ANEBEWEFEE AR mERE
R
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AT BRRW T

19 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19 ANRIE  ZSREMERK
RECEIVABLES 15
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHExT FATT
Non-current FEMED
Prepayments for purchase of property, BBV - BELREN
plant and equipment TR IR 2,235 -
Rental deposits HEZS - 18
2,235 18
Current TED
Deposits and other receivables Re M Efb EY RIS 149 241
Prepayments for inventories FEBNMNFIE 1,980 424
Prepayments for listing expenses L TRAEENRKIE = 1,545
2,129 2,210
Total prepayments, deposits and TENRIE - Ze Rk
other receivables Hh FEUGRIB 4258 4,364 2,228
The listing expenses were incurred in connection with the Listing and R AR ETmES  ERNAEEE
have been deducted from equity upon listing of the Group. iz BRERIR -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other AREEENIUE -« 28 LA EWEIER
receivables were denominated in the following currencies: AREETD LAT?'JE%&‘HE :
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FATT
RMB AR 2,717 404
HKS BIT 178 1,523
usD =T 1,405 295
JPY H 64 6
4,364 2,228
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re WS R AR M R

20 INVENTORIES 20 FE

2019 2018

—E-hE —EN\E

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET THBT

Raw materials ER R 6,319 9,680

Work in progress M 4,145 4602

Finished goods RUAK 13,041 13,291

23,505 27,573

Less: provision for slow moving inventories 3 : M TF B BE (311) -

23,194 27,573

The cost of inventories and consumables recognised as expense and E-FE-NFT_A=1THLFE"
included in cost of sales during the year ended 31 December 2019 HRB/AX LA AHEKRANTSE MH
amounted to HK$27,668,000 (2018: HK$15,886,000) (Note 6). FEnAK AR 4 27,668,0008 7T (ZF — \ & ¢

15,886,00078 70 ) (Fi7E6) °

Movements on the provision for slow moving inventories are as follows: TIHTFE BB EBIMT

2019

—E-NF

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 January w—HA—H -
Provision for slow moving inventories (Note 6) BT B (Miake) 315
Exchange differences MEH ZERE (4)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 311
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AT BRRW T

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERREEEY

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FE T FH&T

Cash at banks RITIRS 48,989 6,512

Cash on hand FHEE® 51 50

Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 49,040 6,562

Maximum exposure to credit risk SEERR 48,989 6,512
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in RekReEBYNERABIUTIE

the following currencies: HEtE -

2019 2018

—E2-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FE T T

HKS BT 42,309 1,098

usb ET 4,744 5,151

RMB AR 1,987 313

49,040 6,562
Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITIRSBRESHETERANZRIEH
deposits rate. As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, the carrying amounts FMEBERFE RZE—N\FRZZE—FN
of cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair values. F+ZA=1+—H BekRSEEYN

FREERE QN ERSE

As 31 December 2019, approximately HK$3,337,000 (2018: R-E—NF+_A=1+—8 ~£E}R

approximately HK$959,000) of the Group's cash and cash equivalents e RRESFEWH3337008 T(ZF

were placed with banks in the PRC denominated in RMB or USD, which — A5 #9959,0008 7T) A AR FETT

is subject to foreign exchange control regulations of the PRC. FHRERBEART SRR BEAINES
HIFR o
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22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 22 RERKRGEE

Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares share

LERBE  HBREE
HK$'000
F

Authorised: SETE -
At 26 October 2018 (date of R-ZE-NE+A=-+<H
incorporation) and 31 December (FEfRCSZ B ER) &%
2018 and 1 January 2019 —E-NF+ZA=1+—A1
—hF—HA—H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital YETE AR AL AN (a) 9,962,000,000 99,620
At 31 December 2019 R-E—NhF+=-_B=1+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
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22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM (Continued) 22 BRARBRGERE®

Number of
ordinary

shares

HEERHE

Nominal
value of
ordinary

share

BEEREE

HKS
BT

Share
premium
g

HK$'000
FAT

Issued and paid: BEITRER :
Issuance of ordinary share RZZE—N\F
at 26 October 2018 +A=Z+<H
(date of incorporation) (FEftAcsz B ER)
BETEBR 1 - -
Issuance of ordinary shares BIFEAZTEBR
pursuant to the
Reorganisation 99 1 -
At 31 December 2018 and RZE—)\%F
1 January 2019 TZA=1+—HK
—E-hF—HA—H 100 1 -
Issuance of ordinary shares BIEE AL B 1TET
pursuant to the capitalisation & 3@ f% (b) 299,999,900 2,999,999 (3,000)
Issuance of ordinary shares BIE EmET SRR
pursuant to the Listing (© 100,000,000 1,000,000 54,000
Listing related expenses AR (B HORR 89
charged to share premium AR © - - (8/489)
At 31 December 2019 RZFE—NF
+—-A=+—H 400,000,000 4,000,000 42,511
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - ZF— W& F 3§ 157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/\\/T\

CRELE € s

22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM (Continued)

Notes:

23

158

(@)

On 21 October 2019, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to
HK$100,000,000 comprising 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to the sole shareholder's written resolutions dated 21 October 2019 and
conditional on the share premium account of the Company being credited as a
result of issue of new shares pursuant to the proposed offering of the Company’s
shares, the Company issued 299,999,900 additional shares (the “Capitalisation
Shares’), credited as fully paid, to the Controlling Shareholders of the Company, by
way of capitalisation of HK$2,999,999 standing to the credit of the share premium

account of the Company.

On 15 November 2019, pursuant to the initial public offering of the Company’s
shares, the Company issued 100,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of HK$0.55 per
share for a total proceeds (before related fees and expenses) of HK$55,000,000. Total
share issuance costs amounting to HK$8,489,000 were accounted for as a deduction

from share premium.

RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Combined capital
Combined capital as at 1 January 2018 represented the share
capital of the entities comprising the Group before the
completion of the reorganisation. The combined capital was
transferred to capital reserve upon completion of reorganisation
on 21 December 2018.

Capital reserve

Capital reserves of the Group represented the difference between
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - 7k Bt 2 £ B35 i A R A &)

22 BRARBGHE R

23

MaE

(@)

REZZ—NF+AZ+—8 KXARLEER
7R3 2 100,000,000 4 7T, + B3E 10,000,000,000 A%
BRR001 BTTERD ©

BEE-—BRRERAPE-T—NEFE+A=+—
BMEMAZRRGERARARGHEERER
FBRERRRROMBEITHRGO AR®E - K
A A AANA A2 AR AR 53617 299,999,900 AR FE SN
B (TEREBRH ) A ARINIESR AR
AIGAR A RIRRD 3 B BR A9 A BR BB 2,999,999 7 7T
BEARL -

Z-AF+—A+HB  REXAQFR
MRERAREE - AR AIRER0S5BTH
B 18517 100,000,000 IR E AR « FT1SFRIBAETE
(40BRABRA 2 A R FZ A1) 455,000,000 7 7T ©
519 25 17K 7N 4858 8,489,000 78 TT B A BR AR D
S B AR °

it

(a)

(b)

BHRA
RZF-N\F—A—BOHAHEA
EEATAATEA AN S BT ERK
Ko apRAR_Z—N\F+_A
T -HaRBEREEBEERGE
=

BEXRRE
AEBMERFEREREEHEMK
M B R B R BN A B AP A
BITARABRANEERNER -
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23 RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Statutory reserve

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in the
PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be
appropriated from the profit after income tax (after offsetting
accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their
respective statutory financial statements, before profit
distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are created
for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to appropriate
an amount of not less than 10% of statutory profit after income
tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-
tax profits of the current year. A company may discontinue the
contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus
reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory
surplus reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the
company, to expand the company’s operations, or to increase the
capital of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-tax
profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all currency translation
differences arising from translation difference of the financial
statements of the Group's subsidiary in the PRC.

24 LEASE LIABILITIES

Minimum lease payments due

PN RIEBER K

4R B

N

B 75 ¥R 3R MY 5E

23 f#EE)

(c)

(d)

EEME

FEVEEEREREFREGZEMROL
BN E BETET B HEMZ2 R
FEHEEN(EENTFENR
FIEER) R RoRENTER
A AR BIBFIENIRERE T &
EREHED - Fﬁﬁii%ﬁ%ﬁ@i’ﬂ%%
AIAZMERL - FEA DIRE
FENRTE R A /,ﬂ/zngm
BREBEE T VRBRITEREET
A0 &R o B RANETE A
BTGB E T EAR850%
B RAAE I8 - ARG

WRUTBEBBARNEE  BEX
NARIMNEESIBNARNER - i

Hh o RREEGHIRZER - AAA
ERAHE ﬁ%f%?&?ﬁﬂ@@lﬁ AR
ﬂEH:" 1 3K o

HNE

A g B SN E
R E B A
AN E

FEEeEREAEER
A KRR E
ERBEEE -

24 FHESE

2019
—E-NF

2018
NE
HK$'000
TAT

—F—

HK$’000
TR

— Within 1 year —1FA 503 166
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E2F 498 459
— Between 2 and 5 years —2FES5HF 1,448 1,476
— Later than 5 years — 5% 724 1,229
3,173 3,330

Less: future finance charges B RIRB B A (458) (598)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 2,715 2,732
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LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

24 HEEGE W)

2019 2018

—E-NF —ZT—)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T THBT

Within 1 year 1A 377 157
Between 1 and 2 years 1E2F 392 88
Between 2 and 5 years 2E54F 1,249 1272
Later than 5 years 5% 697 1,215
2,715 2,732

The interest expense included in finance cost in 2019 was HK$134,000
(2018: HK$130,000). The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was
HKS$157,000 (2018: HKS75,000).

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office and carpark
in Hong Kong. These lease liabilities were measured at net present value
of the lease payments for the lease terms that are not yet paid. The right
of use assets on leased production factory in the PRC included the
prepayment of lease for HK$145,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$634,000).

Extension options are included for Hong Kong office of the Group.
Periods covered by extension options were included in the lease terms
as the Group was reasonably certain to exercise the options.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - kBt &2 £ Bl R B BR A

- NFFARERANFEFAEL A
134000/%73(__EE J\EE + 130,000 7T) °
—_E-NFRHERSRERAEA
157,000 70 (ZZF—/)\4F : 750007%87C) °

AREENPEBELAERE MR ESE
ENEEREES 2% H%E%}Ea’*ﬂ,ﬁﬁ
REAZNRENROFRETE -
T-hF+-_A=+—8 HEAS %F
R 55 &9 {55 FA BB 2= 0 Bl ET A\ 145,000 7 7T
(ZZ— \4F : 63400078 70 ) (7 & 78 1+
FRIA o

AEBENEENERREEREREE - &
HESERENMETAEY  BALA%
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AT BRRW T

25 TRADE PAYABLES 25 BEFZRENNRIE
Trade payables at the end of each reporting period comprise amounts BRBEHANE S ENTBEEEN AL
outstanding to contract creditors and suppliers. The average credit RHFEDOERARBERNDRE - EF5K
period taken for trade purchase is generally from 0-90 days. BHTEHEER—MRA0ENAR -

2019 2018

—E-NF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FHTT

Trade payables B S e IR 1,503 3,386
As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, the ageing analysis of the trade 75/\ —NFR-_E-NF+A=+—

payables, based on invoice date, are as follows: fﬁ%ﬂgﬁ Iﬁﬁﬁf\ﬁé%ﬁi HERRER e

quT :

2019 2018

—E—-hEF —E-N\EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Up to 30 days %30 H 965 708

1-60 days 31260 H 209 612

61-90 days 61 %290 H 329 1,279

Over 3 months B3 EA - 787

1,503 3,386
As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, the carrying amounts of trade Eﬁf - N\EFRZE-—NF+ZA=+—
payables are denominated in the following currencies: B IR RENREEN TGS

@ :

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHExT T4

RMB AR 1,503 2,325

HKS BT - 1,061

1,503 3,386
As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, the carrying amounts of trade RZE-NERZE-NF+=A=+—
payables approximate their fair values. H BZ2EMNFENREEREQFER

+
T

o
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26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 EtERRHEMENRIE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E—)N\F

HK$’000 HKS'000

FE&T T

Accrued listing expenses fEET FhFAY 200 1,869

Accrued auditors' remuneration JRE 2% 4 Bl 57 B 1,000 30

Accrued employee benefit expenses fEFHE B RAFSZ 729 1,185

Other accruals Hithfgst & A 68 68

Other payables H At T FRIE 27 52
Payable for purchase of property, EEYE  BEERED

plant and equipment FERTFA 107 109

Contract liabilities (Note 5¢) BB E (S 175 -

2,306 3313

The carrying amounts of the Group's contract liabilities, accruals and AEENENEE BT ERREMER
other payables were denominated in the following currencies: FIERREENA T E8EHE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E—)\F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

F#&xT T

RMB AR 755 1,328

usb e - 38

HKS BT 1,551 1,947

2,306 3313
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27 DIVIDENDS 27 RE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\EF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FE T FH&T

Proposed final dividend of HK2.0 cents EEABARBZRE R 20811
(2018: Nil) per ordinary share (Note (7)) (ZZE—N\F - 8) (M) 8,000 -

Dividends declared and paid to the TR MR TR AR R A

controlling shareholder (Note (ii)) HX/%(BHEI (i) - 19,460

() The final dividend is not accounted for as a dividend payable in () KEBRETENULEMBRTAR
these financial statements until it has been approved at the BEMKRE  BEERAAGEER
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. RBEFREEERL -

(i) Dividends during the year ended 31 December 2018 represented iy REzEZZ—N\F+=—_HA=+—H
dividends declared by the companies now comprising the Group IEFE E’\JJ&L,D RERFHBREE
to the then equity holders of the companies for each of the year WARRBE-_ZE—N\F+=A
ended 31 December 2018, after elimination of intra-group —t+—HItFERERQRERE
dividends. The rates for dividend and the number of shares EAERNRE(ELHEEER W
ranking for dividends are not presented as such information is not AR E) - REEREBIREGR
considered meaningful for the purpose of this report. BHRNEBITEZY  AAEH

BREAREMSALEEE -
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 28 RIS
The movement in deferred income tax assets during the years ended 31 REBEE-_ZE—NER-_ZT—NF+=-A
December 2018 and 2019, without taking into consideration the —+—BLFENELEHMEREEEZD
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follow: (I fmat R M 8 B — i 7 A AR (R A A R )
#HWT -
Lease Provision for
liabilities inventory Total
HEEE FERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THT FH&TT
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—N\F—H—H 6 - 6
Charged to consolidated RERE 2 EWER R
statement of comprehensive (MF5E12)
income (Note 12) 5 - 5
As at 31 December 2018 RZZ—N\F
+ZA=+—H 11 - 11
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE-h&—HA—H 11 - 11
Charged to consolidated Riza 2EB SRR
statement of comprehensive (FFzE12)
income (Note 12) 6 47 53
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE—hE
+=A=+-H 17 Y/ 64
As at 31 December 2019, deferred income tax liabilities of approximately RZE—NF+-_A=+—H WERF
HK$1,987,000 (2018: HK$1,120,000) have not been recognised for the LIN=PNCIFS ﬁ H &2 1 49 19,868,000 7 7T,
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of (ZZF—/)\F : 11,201,000 7T ) B FE 8178
subsidiaries in the PRC of approximately HK$19,868,000 (2018: ?DWEMLL@% ST EE#1,987,0008 7T
HK$11,201,000) as our directors considered that the timing of the (ZZ— )\ : 1,120,000 7T) f?.%—iﬁ
reversal of the related temporary differences can be controlled and the ERAEOIEREE R E RO
related temporary difference will not be reversed and will not be taxable HEEREZZ K TERAIUTERHR }K
in the foreseeable future. RO K BIRERT o
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29 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party has
the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence
over the Group in making financial and operating decisions.
Related parties may be individuals (being members of key
management personnel, significant shareholders and/or their
close family members) or other entities and include entities
which are under the significant influence of related parties of the
Group where those parties are individuals. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

The director is of the view that the following individual were
related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019:

Name Relationship with the Group

Mr. YP Chan Shareholder and Executive Director

Key management compensation
Key management include executive directors and the senior
management of the Group. The compensation paid or payable to

key management for employee services is shown below:

4R B

N

B 75 ¥R 3R MY 5E

29 BEBARS

(a)

(b)

IR EERAMBRERME - H—77
LR R g ERE T HA B
HEEKREUAKEENEATE
o AR SRANEEEEE -
BAOrm AEMAL(BIEZEEA
EXE BEABRREHEERE
MK E) S EMER  YBEX
AEBERBET (BENAL)EXRY
EOEE - Trﬁxﬁx CRES] - 78
SR DA B

EERR/UTERALAREE=
E-NFR-ZZFE-HLhF+A
=+t BLEFEEAREEIHK
KRRV B ) -

e BN SR [ RO RE (%

BRIE £ BREMTES
FTEEEEFHMH

TEEEEERASENNITES
UNE=BERRE - BEERBEN
FENETEEEENHMERNT

2019 2018

—E—-hEF — \&F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefitsin kind ~ ¥& ~ 2B R EWEF 1,699 962
Retirement benefit costs — defined BRIRBFIKA — TREHERETE

contribution plans 69 25

1,768 987
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30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTOF 30 GBS HRE XM
CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (@) BRATBHRAIZHELERMEBR
generated from operations SHER

2019 2018
—g-nE  —EF &

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT THAT

Cash flows from operating activities EZFZERESFHE

Profit before income tax M TSR A a A 10,557 12,467
Adjustments for: AT RIEAE
Amortisation 5 7 26
Depreciation of property and equipment 1) 3¢ K 3% {547 & 1,891 2,871
Provision for slow moving inventories T EEE 315 -
Gain on disposal of property, HEMFE - B R&EREE

plant and equipment (1) -
Finance income BhE WA 9) (41)
Finance cost Bh& Ak AN 134 130

12,894 15,453

Changes in working capital EELESEE
Trade receivables H 5 W KRIE (13,198) 1,018
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRUER - 2o REMERGRIA

receivables 500 537
Inventories FE 2,115 (8,482)
Trade payables 5N RIA (1,851) 1936
Accruals and other payables FERT B R R B FE T FRIR (1,039) 1,533

Net cash (used in)/generated from & (FrA) 3RS FHE

operations (579) 11,995
(b) Significant non-cash transactions (b) EXFBRERS
During the year ended 31 December 2018, dividend of REBE_Z-—N\F+_A=+—H
HK$12,460,000 was declared and offset against the amount due IEFE - EEIRARE 12,460,000 % 7T
from a shareholder which did not result in any cash flow. R IH BRI - HImEE

EABREIR
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= /\ AN
4T A B RS R R B
30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30 EBEERERMT &)
CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 BMETBFELEEEZYHIR

activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for

which cash flows were, or future cash flow will be, classified in the

Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.

TRAVNAEERERDAELR

D -

BEBS RIEBLE

BoRETIFELABRNAE

B

Afﬁiumgi'%/\*éﬁgﬁﬁjééﬂ

EREREZRSMEBIRKIE

i//lug °

Lease
Liabilities

HEAE
HK$'000

TAET

Amount due
from/(to)

a shareholder

FER(44)

B SRR IE
HK$'000
TAT

Net debt as at 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—H—BHNFER (2/493) 1357
Cash flows, net REMNEFHE 75 11,044
Other non-cash movements HiIFR & E)
— Accrued interest — EETFIE (128) -
— Increase in right-of-use assets — (RS EEI (109) -
— Non-cash dividends —IEREBBE - (12,460)
— Foreign exchange adjustments — AN EE (77) 59
Net debt as at 31 December 2018 RZE—\F+_A=+—H
K FETS (2,732) -
Net debt as at 1 January 2019 R-ZB-NE—-F—HWNEEH (2,732) -
Cash flows, net Remn=EF5 157 -
Other non-cash movements Hi IR &
— Increase in right-of-use assets — {F B AN (53) =
— Accrued interest — FEETFE (134) =
— Foreign exchange adjustments — JNEFE 47 =
Net debt as at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hE+=ZA=+-—H
KR ER (2,715) -
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31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31 EXEE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the RREPRETNERABERABENE
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: REARFELIT :
2019 2018
—E-hE —E2—)N\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TFHExT FATT
Property, plant and equipment VI -~ BB Mk 1,029 -
32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32 HAREE
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any significant R-ZE-NF+-A=+—H8 x&EL
contingent liabilities (2018: Nil). BAMERSIARBE(ZZE—NEF  8|) -
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33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 33 ARFEEEBREFEED
THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company AAREEAER
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B A RMRE 41,888 41,888
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TERTRIE - 1,545
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 29,208 -
Total assets EEHEE 71,096 43,433
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity attributable to owners KATHEEAELER
of the Company
Share capital %N 4,000 -
Reserves H1E (a) 65,363 37,220
Total equity ERBE 69,363 37,220
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals JEstFIE 200 1,869
Amounts due to subsidiaries R ESPNGIE ] 1,533 4,344
Total liabilities =REECt 1,733 6,213
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 71,096 43433
The Balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of ARANEERBEREHEZTEN_F
Directors on 25 March 2020 and was signed on its behalf. ZEF-AZTRAME  UREREEFE
B5E -
Chan Yuk Pan Chan Lung Pan
BRI BREE M
Director Director
EF g
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33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 33 ARFEEEBREFEED
THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company (@) AARFESH

Share Other Accumulated
capital reserve losses Total

A Hitufts Rt R Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THET

Balance at 26 October 2018 RZE-N\E

(Date of incorporation) THAZ+RA
(FEMACA B H) o464 - - - -
Loss for the period HNEE - - (4,668) (4,668)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEEEARE - - (4,668) (4,668)
Transactions with equity HEZHEANRS
holders:
Issuance of ordinary shares BIEE AL BITE B
pursuant to the capitalisation - 41,888 - 41,888
- 41,888 - 41,888
Balance at 31 December 2018~ M =Z— /\4F
T A=t —HH&R - 41,888 (4,668) 37,220
Balance at 1January2019 R=-ZE—A&E—-A—H
B8R - 41,888 (4,668) 37,220
Loss for the year FREE - - (14,368) (14,368)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEBELE - - (14,368) (14,368)
Transactions with equity HERFEANRS
holders:
Issuance of ordinary shares REEABITEBR
pursuant to the capitalisation 3,000 (3,000) - -
Issuance of ordinary shares RE BT RR
pursuant to the Listing 1,000 54,000 - 55,000
Listing related expenses PR B HIBR Y
charged to share premium AR = (8,489) - (8,489)
4,000 42,511 - 46,511
Balance at 31 December 2019 R=Z— R F
tTZRA=+—B0&E 4,000 84,399 (19,036) 69,363
34 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 34 MEBEREH
After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19 outbreak’) RIEBE-ZEFYRE_Z hiﬁﬁﬂ%%
in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control measures have been ] ( fCOVID 19%% D% 2EE E il
and continued to be implemented across the country. Management is WisEEHm— @%?ﬂﬁ&? HIEHE o BIR
of the view that the ultimate impact of the Group's business due to the EBRA  BEYUAEEEBHNRRTER
virus is uncertain and beyond prediction as it is highly dependent on RAZE - TVEIEIEA - IERBURARNEE
the future development. Management will closely and continuously HIARKERE - EEEBEZYNISEEEESR
monitor the situation and assess the financial impact to the Group. RIER MEH R AR EER MBS E -
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Three-Year Financial Summary

=FTBHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group ~ ANEE@F =AM K EENEEREE - #%

for the last three financial years is as follows: EEBBERE DT
RESULTS RE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

2019 2018 2017
—E—-hEF —F-N\F =
HK$’000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
TEx T T FETT

Revenue WA 67,509 46,267 43,972
Profit before taxation TRANGE R 10,557 12,467 14,695
Income tax expense FriaFiF (3,594) (2,732) (2,232)
Profit for the year F R 6,963 9,735 12,463
Attributable to: FEAS -

Shareholders of the Company RN BIREER 6,963 9,735 12,463
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Three-Year Financial Summary

“FHHHE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE

As at 31 December

®n+=—B=+—H
2019 2018
—E-NF —F-N\F Z
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FTExT FET TFETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREEE 9,799 9,357 12,025
Current assets mENEE 91,247 40,166 51,300
Total assets WEE 101,046 49,523 63,325
Equity and liabilities EREEE
Total equity B (92,398) (39,615) (50,995)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,338) (2,575) (2,493)
Current liabilities mEBE (6,310) (7,333) (9,837)
Total liabilities =N (8,648) (9,908) (12,330)
Total equity and liabilities ks kAR (101,046) (49,523) (63,325)

Note: The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the three years ended 31  Mizt : AEEHE-_ZE—+FR-_Z—-\F+-A=+—H

December 2017 and 2018 and of the assets, equity and liabilities as at 31 December 2017 IF=EFENAaRERE  ARRT—tF K=
and 2018 are extracted from the Prospectus. T-N\EFE+A=+—HWEE BxNAEHHE
BRRER -
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